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Front cover: Australian Test players pay tribute to Phillip Hughes ahead of
the Commonwealth Bank Test Series match against India at Adelaide Oval,
supporting the #LeaveOutYourBats campaign.

The 144th Annual and Financial Report
for the year ended 30 June 2015 is to be
presented at the Annual General Meeting
of the South Australian Cricket Association
held in the Ian McLachlan Room at
Adelaide Oval on 28 September 2015.
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SACA STRATEGIC PLAN
2012 – 2015
VISION
To lead the way to be South Australia’s
favourite sport.
MISSION
To dominate cricket in Australia,
be South Australia’s most sought-after
membership and be worthy of our loyal fans.
Objective 1
Put cricket fans and SACA
Members first.
Objective 2
Protect and promote SACA’s brands
and reputation.
Objective 3
Produce the best teams, players,
competitions, coaches and of ficials.
Objective 4
Increase participation targeting new
players and fans.

Left: Breezair SA Scorpions fast bowler, Megan Schutt.

Objective 5
Be a place where our people matter
and are engaged to achieve optimal
perfor mance.
Objective 6
Grow investment and allocate
resources to deliver this strategy.
Objective 7
Contribute to the strategic and cultural
unification of Australian cricket.

PRESIDENT’S REPORT
“We will invest in South Australian
talent and put our support behind our
young captain in Travis Head and
a young squad.”

The year 2014/15 will be remembered for a
tragic loss, triggering enormous challenges
for the South Australian Cricket Association let
alone cricket more broadly. However, I reflect
on what was achieved and look forward to
2015/16 with renewed optimism.
For SACA Members, you experienced an
unforgettable Test Match and a number of new
Member events including Member forums with
myself and Keith Bradshaw, a lunch with vicepresident, Andrew Sincock, and an exclusive
wine tour to the Barossa Valley.
It is the Board’s aim to further engage with
SACA Members and hear your feedback about
any issues or how we can add value to your
membership.
The SACA Rooms during AFL matches again
proved popular, with both the Gil Langley and
Committee Rooms selling out at a majority of
fixtures.
Arising from the devastating circumstances
last November when we lost a much loved
player and friend in Phillip Hughes, the annual
Test Match Dinner was cancelled. This is the
premier event for SACA Members and we thank
you for your patience and understanding
during what was an extremely difficult time.
The Test Match dinner will hold extra
significance this year ahead of the inaugural
day/night Test Match from 27 November.
As a world-first fixture, it will be a wonderful
occasion for SACA Members to be a part of
and witness history in the making. The Board
will ensure there is continued investment into
the Village Green during the Test Match in
November.
We want Members to make the most out of this
unique cricket experience but, as a fixture that
will extend late into the evening, we will ensure
it is a safe and family friendly environment for
all to enjoy.
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Last year the “Avenue of Honour” was due
to be launched prior to the Test Match. It will
comprise a dedicated space in the western
stand breezeway to honour the greats of South
Australian cricket, male and female.

We felt the last Test Match was not the time
for celebration; however, looking ahead this
summer we see it as the right occasion to
recognise and celebrate cricketing greats at
the Adelaide Oval.
During the past 12 months I have received a
lot of feedback about a SACA Museum; it is
absolutely necessary. A working committee
has been set up and while we may be 12 to 18
months away, I am confident that we will again
see a space at the Oval dedicated to the
history and memorabilia of South Australian
cricket.
There have been some significant events
for SACA as a business during winter 2015.
The Park 25 redevelopment (i.e. North Terrace
and West Terrace corner) gained media
exposure in July 2015 and it shapes as an
exciting project for South Australian cricket.
SACA has invested resources into this area
during the past 18 months including work on
the standard of the pitches and outfield.
Whilst the playing conditions are now at a firstclass standard, the facilities are not and with a
number of country and community carnivals
hosted during summer, the redevelopment will
ensure the space can accommodate more
teams for the benefit of all who love and play
cricket in South Australia.
The project will include a new change room
building, pavilion, car parking and function
centre. The redeveloped centre will have a
similar footprint on the Parklands to the current
set up. The starting point is SACA securing
sufficient tenure to justify the investment, and
that tenure is currently being negotiated.
The Grade Cricket Review was another
significant announcement for SACA.
As the link between community cricket
and high performance, the A Grade cricket
competition will be reduced from 13 to 12
teams effective from season 2016/17; a move
that will dispense with the existing bye and
align the competition with the Adelaide Turf
Cricket Association’s (ATCA) scheduling.

Above: Judith Rolevink, Hon John Bannon AO, Basil Sellers AM, Andrew Sinclair and Hon Ian McLachlan AO
unveil the George Giffen sculpture during the Adelaide Test match.

The West End Grade Cricket Competition will
be renamed the West End Premier Cricket
Competition, effective as of season 2015/16.
This will more clearly reflect the purpose of the
competition and align it with the other States
and Territories in Australia that are similarly in
the process of changing to “Premier Cricket.”
The Association has a responsibility to ensure
that all money it distributes is being spent to
ensure cricket is South Australia’s favourite
sport — a sport for all South Australians.
As such, the loosely tied grants that SACA has
previously provided clubs will be replaced with
a funding application process to ensure that
Grade clubs continue working with the SACA to
reach our strategic objectives.
Consistent with governance reforms across
many boards, there will be stricter governance
with new guidelines to be developed by the
SACA Board to ensure that the Grade Cricket
Committee and Grade competition are
working to enhance cricket in SA.
Financially, the Association’s strong profit
margin during 2014/15 has allowed for
continued investment into cricket facilities
around South Australia.
The establishment of the Facilities and Future
Fund will underpin projects such as the Park 25
redevelopment, while further spend in game
development, including club development and
Premier cricket, will be outlined at the Annual
General Meeting in September, 2015.

In August 2015 Cricket Australia released its
Australian Cricket Pathway – “Backyard to
Baggy Green.” It provides national consistency
for men’s and women’s cricket. I believe the
South Australian path to first-class success is
on the right track and as a Board, we believe
in the system that has been set up under Tim
Nielsen and Jamie Siddons as our new coach.
We will invest in South Australian talent and put
our support behind our young captain in Travis
Head and a young squad.
In closing, I would like to thank my Board for
their continued support as we strive to make
cricket South Australia’s favourite sport and a
sport for all South Australians.
Finally, I would like to thank our chief executive
Keith Bradshaw and the SACA staff and players
for their professionalism following the tragic
passing of Phillip Hughes last November.
To firstly deal with the loss of a teammate and
friend and then have to deal with a change of
date for the Test Match with only a few days’
notice, while delivering an outstanding event,
was a remarkable effort by the SACA team.
November 2015 will see the introduction of
a new Test Match format. I hope to see you
at the Adelaide Oval during those five days
and nights.
Andrew Sinclair
SACA President

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT
“I would like to extend my sincere gratitude
to SACA Members for your understanding
and patience in what were challenging
and tragic circumstances.”
The South Australian Cricket Association has
dealt with unprecedented events during the
past 12 months, but has done so with the
unwavering support of our SACA Members and
the wider cricket community.

All indications from the Sheffield Shield trial last
year were that the pink ball is technologically
advanced now and we are very confident that
the nature and manner in which the game is
played will reflect a traditional Test Match.

The tragic loss of Phillip Hughes was felt around
the world and had a significant impact on
all of us and we will continue to honour the
memory of our team mate and friend both on
and off the field.

The other significant news for SACA Members
this year was the return of cricket on Australia
Day to Adelaide Oval.

The change of dates for the Test Match during
this difficult time last November presented
us with many logistical challenges and
I know that many of our members were
affected. Again, I would like to extend my
sincere gratitude to SACA Members for your
understanding and patience in what were
challenging and tragic circumstances.
For those of you who were at Adelaide Oval
on the morning of Day 1 or saw the dramatic
climax late on Day 5, it was a Test Match we
will never forget.
Despite the match starting three days earlier
on a Tuesday, 113,009 people attended,
making it the highest Adelaide Test Match
crowd outside of an Ashes fixture.
With respect to this year, I am delighted that
our members will be able to experience the
world-first day/night Test Match when Australia
takes on New Zealand from 27 November.
This match will be a ground breaking event
– a chance for the eyes of the world to be on
Adelaide Oval and for South Australia and
SACA to lead the way.
The challenge has always been to make Test
cricket more accessible; while not starting in
the traditional early-December period, the
day/night fixture allows members to come
after work and school and enjoy Test cricket
well into the evening.
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While there has been much debate
surrounding the pink ball, what is very
important to cricket fans around the world is
that we respect and preserve the integrity of
the balance between bat and ball.

I have always believed that Australia Day
should be at Adelaide Oval; it is part of our
DNA and part of our tradition here in South
Australia and I can assure SACA Members that
we are doing everything in our power to retain
this fixture.
It is an iconic day on our State’s sporting
calendar.
Prior to the Test Match, Adelaide Oval will be
hosting another major event with the famous
Australian rock band, AC/DC returning.
Now a multi-purpose stadium, it is important
that we recognise the need to balance
international events with traditional sporting
fixtures. Cricket is our priority, but we also have
a responsibility to the South Australian public
to ensure that Adelaide can attract world-class
events that bring significant revenue to the
State and impact many local businesses.
As I reflect on SACA’s on-field results from the
past 12 months, I’d like to highlight some key
moments and individual performances that
deserve recognition.
I was lucky enough to be in Sydney with the
Breezair SA Scorpions when they took on NSW
in their first WNCL final in eight years.
While the Scorpions were not able to clinch
that ultimate goal, the thrilling semi-final win
against Queensland, when Sarah Taylor and
Megan Schutt held their nerve with seven
wickets down, was an outstanding effort.
With some key players returning and new
faces including Australian representative Sarah
Coyte, we are confident that they can take
that next step with Andrea McCauley again
coaching the team this summer.
The Adelaide Strikers provided so many
memorable moments during December and
January with undoubtedly the most loyal fan
base in the BBL.

Above: Keith Bradshaw congratulates West End Redbacks batsman, Tim Ludeman, after the Redbacks defeated
Queensland in a Sheffield Shield match in November, 2014.

While the team went down to the Sydney Sixers
in the semi-final, seeing 52,633 people pack
into Adelaide Oval and setting a number of
attendance records that night is something
I will never forget.

Investment into grassroots cricket and player
pathways continues to be a key focus for SACA
and with more than 100,000 participants in
South Australia, game development programs
continue to grow.

Much has been written about the West End
Redbacks’ lack of success, but I want to say
how proud the entire Association is of the
players’ efforts given the circumstances.

Before closing, I would like to thank Adelaide
Oval Stadium Management Authority Chief
Executive, Andrew Daniels, and his staff for their
contribution during the past 12 months.
We enjoy a close working partnership that has
delivered some outstanding content during the
recent summer.

The leadership shown by a young captain
in Travis Head, both on and off the field, was
exemplary in the second half of the season.
As we look forward with much optimism this
summer, SACA has identified some critical
strategic priorities.
Financially, SACA is continuing to strongly
grow revenue streams, generating an
operating cash surplus of approximately
$7.4m ($2.4m in 2013/14).
In the first full season under which cricket
operated at full capacity in a completed
Adelaide Oval, record attendances drove profit.
With five Adelaide Strikers games, including
the highest attendance at a domestic cricket
match ever recorded at Adelaide Oval
(52,633) and a record Test Match attendance
for a non-Ashes fixture (113,009), the past 12
months saw the highest cumulative number
of cricket attendees in history.
A total of 2,046 new financial members
joined during the 2014/15 season and with a
healthy retention rate of 94 per cent, SACA’s
strong membership base of 26,655 generated
significant revenue.
Team success is a must; SACA has invested in
Travis Head as captain, and his partnership
with vice-captain, Tim Ludeman, and coach,
Jamie Siddons, establishes strong foundations
for a long-term vision.
Stephen Schwerdt has taken over the physical
performance program and has already had a
big impact on the strength and fitness of our
young squad, instilling elite standards from his
10 years’ experience in the AFL system with
Adelaide and Gold Coast.

The year 2014/15 was without a doubt one of
SACA’s most challenging and once again, I
would like to acknowledge the support of the
magnificent SACA staff. I am grateful to have
such a passionate, united and talented team
of employees.
Throughout many long hours, hardships and,
at times grief, the dedication of the
Association’s staff has been second to none.
Two individuals I would like to recognise are
Roger Johnson, our SACA Chaplain and
Matthew McGregor, player development
manager. Both men showed incredible strength
and support to all players and staff last
November and their role in helping guide us
through a difficult and emotional time must
be acknowledged.
Finally, thank you again to the ongoing
support of our sponsors, in particular West
End, principal partner of the Adelaide Strikers,
West End Redbacks, West End Premier League
and West End Grade Cricket, and Jeep, major
partner of the Adelaide Strikers. I would also
like to acknowledge BankSA, which supported
the BankSA Country Cups and Carnivals, as
well partners Toyota, and Coca Cola Amatil.
Thanks must also be extended to Breezair for
its inaugural sponsorship of South Australia’s
women’s team, the Breezair SA Scorpions.
Finally, thanks to our official and supply
partners for their support during 2014/15.
Keith Bradshaw
Chief Executive

PHILLIP HUGHES
TRIBUTE
On 27 November 2014, South Australian and
Australian player, Phillip Hughes tragically
passed away.
Phillip Hughes was a popular member of both
the West End Redbacks and Adelaide Strikers
teams and a favourite of SACA Members
and cricket fans across South Australia and
Australia.
Loved by everyone, Phillip was a remarkable
talent. He had many friends and team mates
here and interstate.
The out pouring of support for Phillip and
the Hughes family was overwhelming and a
testament to how much of an impact he had
on so many people.
Phillip moved to South Australia from New
South Wales in 2012 to further his national
selection opportunities, cementing his position
at the top of the Redbacks’ line-up as well
as becoming an outstanding member of the
Adelaide Strikers.
He played 15 Sheffield Shield matches for
South Australia, averaging 53.33 and made five
centuries, including a double-century and six
half-centuries. Phillip also averaged 71.60 in six
One-Day matches including one century and
two half-centuries.
He played 26 Test Matches for Australia,
averaging 32.65, making three Test centuries.
He was the youngest player to score back-toback centuries in the same match, in only
his second Test. In his 114 first-class matches,
he scored more than 9000 runs, at an
average of 46.51.
Phillip Hughes will be dearly missed and
forever remembered.
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Right: Phillip Hughes raises his bat after reaching his
double century against Western Australia in 2013.

ICC CRICKET
WORLD CUP 2015
ICC CRICKET WORLD CUP SOUTH
AUSTRALIA SNAPSHOT
• 64,000 international and interstate visitors to
South Australia.
• A $90m direct spending injection into the
South Australian economy.
• 116,434 people attended the four pool
matches and quarter-final at Adelaide Oval.
• An estimated worldwide TV audience of
1.56 billion people making it one of the
most watched sporting events in history.
Close to 65,000 international and interstate
tourists visited South Australia for the ICC
Cricket World Cup 2015, delivering a significant
boost to the local economy.
The tournament, which included four pool
matches and a quarter-final, generated
more than a quarter of a million bed nights
and underpinned a $75 million visitor
spend. In total, the tournament generated
approximately $90 million in direct spending
in South Australia.
The blockbuster match between India and
Pakistan in particular drew thousands of
international, interstate and local Indian and
Pakistani fans to Adelaide.
The findings are part of an economic
impact and benefits analysis carried out by
PricewaterhouseCoopers which reveals
the tournament generated more than
$AU 1.1 billion in direct spending across
Australia and New Zealand.
South Australian Cricket Association Chief
Executive, Keith Bradshaw, said the tournament
played a pivotal role in attracting visitors
and promoting South Australia to important
overseas markets.
“The World Cup brought pleasure to more
than 1.5 billion people around the world,
but importantly it also made a very positive
contribution to employment and prosperity in
South Australia,” Bradshaw said.
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“India trained in Adelaide during the lead-up
to the tournament and our cricket ties with the
sub-continent are now stronger because of the
Cricket World Cup.
“The India v Pakistan match, for those who
were there on the day, experienced an
incredible atmosphere and something we will
all never forget.”
The Premier of South Australia, Jay Weatherill,
said the South Australian Government was
delighted with the result and would continue
to work closely with cricket to the benefit of
everyone in the state. “South Australia saw the
Cricket World Cup as a significant economic
opportunity and targeted the India versus
Pakistan game to deepen our relationship with
the sub-continent.
“The economic benefit for us went well beyond
the massive tourism injection, as we extended
invitations to business and other Indian
decision makers to come to South Australia
and experience the match, the Adelaide Oval,
and our magnificent State.”
“The image of the orange sunset over our
redeveloped Adelaide Oval during that match
is now etched into South Australian sporting
folklore–as well as the hearts of a billion cricket
fans in India.”

DREAM TEAM 15
Dream Team 15 was a personal initiative of the
Honourable Jay Weatherill MP, Premier of South
Australia with a view to use the shared love
of cricket to build new relationships between
South Australia and India, and to give a group
of youngsters from a range of backgrounds an
opportunity they wouldn’t ordinarily have.
Coached by former Redbacks Cameron
Borgas, 15 high-school-aged Indian players
won the right to play five Adelaide High School
teams plus the State indigenous team on an
invitation tour hosted by the State Government.
The competition was organised and paid
for by SACA.

TROPHY TOUR
SACA worked hard to ensure that 600 to 700
regional South Australians had the once-in-a
lifetime opportunity to be part of a World
Cup Tour.
The tour of the World Cup 2015 trophy,
accompanied by Shaun Tait, visited Pt Lincoln
(where it dived with sharks), Pt Augusta (for
the Imparja Cup), Jamestown (for a junior
Twenty20 carnival), as well as Clare.
City fans did not miss out with the tour also
extending to metropolitan locations including
Rundle Mall, Westfield Marion and Glenelg.

THE FRIENDSHIP CUP
The Friendship Cup was held at Kilburn Oval on
Sunday 18 January 2015 and attracted more
than 1,000 attendees as well as the chair of
the Multicultural and Ethnic Affairs Commission
and former State Minister, Grace Portolesi.
A focus on supporting the participation of
local community groups, restaurants/caterers,
singers, dancers and community leaders,
as opposed to delivering event operations,
ensured SACA was well positioned to engage
with these important emerging markets.
This year, the match only starred teams from
the Indian and Pakistani communities but
plans to expand into a tournament involving
other multicultural communities in 2015/16 are
already underway.

THE CWC 2015 METRO
CHALLENGE
The CWC Metro Challenge was a Twenty20
competition organised by SACA for community
teams and played on SACA managed fields
across the city.
Comprising a men’s, women’s and mixed
division, eight ‘community teams’ registered
to play.

THE ICC CRICKET WORLD CUP
COUNTDOWN CLOCK
The ICC Cricket World Cup Countdown Clock
was part of the Trophy Tour and was also on
display at Adelaide Oval during the December
Test match. The clock played a central role
at the Adelaide Airport welcoming visitors to
Adelaide and promoting the Tournament.

ROUND 9 OF THE SACA
GRADE CRICKET COMPETITION
Round 9 of the SACA Grade Cricket
Competition scheduled for 17-24 January 2015
was known as the ICC Cricket World Cup 2015
Community Round.
Metropolitan, country and community
associations were invited to celebrate the
round by scheduling community events that
created the atmosphere, colour, and flavour
associated with the Tournament.

HIGH PERFORMANCE
Big year for women’s cricket, but
Redbacks must improve

Another cricket season has come to an end
as we reflect on what we achieved and what
might have been.
It was a big year for women’s cricket in South
Australia. Andrea McCauley was appointed
our first full-time women’s coach, giving her
more scope to spend time with the players
and develop our squad. We also recruited
two world-class internationals, ICC Women’s
One-Day player of the year and English
international, Sarah Taylor, and New Zealand
dual international, Sophie Devine. Not only did
these players make an impact on the field, but
also they brought new ideas to the squad.
Along with our outstanding captain, Lauren
Ebsary, Sarah and Sophie also brought a
new level of professionalism to our young
squad. Reaching the Women’s National
Cricket League One-Day final was a huge
achievement by our group and we look
forward to seeing them push to take that next
step in 2015/16.
It has been a disappointing year for the West
End Redbacks in both the Matador One-Day
Cup and Sheffield Shield, but it was impressive
to see some of our younger talent begin their
journey towards becoming competitive senior
cricketers. While Callum Ferguson, Tom Cooper,
Mark Cosgrove and Chadd Sayers stood out
with their maturity and experience, it was the
younger players who pleasingly surprised us
with their determination and ability to
handle pressure.
While it was pleasing to see young players
like Kelvin Smith and Alex Gregory get more
opportunities, it is equally rewarding to
see players like Jake Lehmann, Alex Ross
and Nick Benton earn their opportunities
through a number of seasons of outstanding
performances in the West End Premier League,
West End A-Grade competition and Toyota
Futures League. Travis Head has already
impressed as captain and we look forward to
seeing him continue to develop as a leader.
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The Adelaide Strikers took this city by storm,
improving from seventh on the ladder to
becoming the team to beat while garnering
the best fans in the KFC T20 Big Bash League.
It was incredible to see families and a new
generation of cricket fans wearing their blue
wigs and cheering our team across the line.

On the field, the Adelaide Strikers were one of
the most entertaining teams in the league and
while we fell just short this season, the Adelaide
Strikers will be back bigger and better than
ever in BBL|05 and we know the fans will be
with us again.
While our underage teams had limited success,
there were a number of promising individual
performances. Patrick Page was impressive,
and named player of the tournament at the
U17 National Championships before becoming
South Australia’s leading run scorer at the
U19 Championships where he was added
to the Australian U19 squad alongside SA
team mate, David Grant. Off-spinner Michael
Cormack has impressed with his performances
at the U19 Championships and the Cricket
Australia Talent Camp held in Brisbane in late
March. Michael has since been added to the
Australian U19 squad where the final touring
party will be selected for their tour of England
this winter. Spin bowler Amanda Wellington
has also had a stand-out year, selected in the
Commonwealth Bank Shooting Stars squad to
tour Dubai on the back of strong performances
at the U18 Championships and for the Breezair
SA Scorpions.
Our key goal next season must be to build
individual performances into team success
and to create more consistent results from our
teams. I believe all of our teams have strong
foundations, built through improved player
development pathways and we are well
positioned to continue to improve over
coming seasons.
It has been a big time of change for South
Australia, with coach Darren Berry and captain
Johan Botha both moving on. Under their
leadership, our team has developed a tougher
attitude and competitive edge and a number
of our young players have flourished. We
thank both of them for everything they have
contributed to South Australian cricket during
their time here and wish them the best with
their future endeavours.
I am very pleased to welcome back to the
SACA Jamie Siddons as the Head Coach of
the West End Redbacks, and Jason Gillespie as
Head Coach of the Adelaide Strikers.

Above: Neil Dansie OAM and Callum Ferguson.

Both men had highly successful playing
careers in Adelaide, and we look forward to
them leading our senior squads forward in
their quest for success. Stephen Schwerdt has
been added to our High Performance staffing,
and his 14 years’ experience at both the
Adelaide Crows and the Gold Coast Suns will
undoubtedly assist in preparing the players to
elite physical levels.
The tragic passing of Phillip Hughes midseason was an extremely difficult time for
everyone. In his two years with us, Phillip left
an indelible mark on not only our players, but
also on everyone involved in South Australian
cricket. Phillip was an inspiration to our players
and a true friend and team mate. The impact
he left on our change room and on our
organisation could never be measured and he
is, and always will be, missed.

The year 2015/16 marks the start of a new era
in South Australian cricket, with new leadership
and structures in place. The High Performance
programs have commenced pre-season work,
and there is a positive air around all squads.
The challenge for all of us now is to transfer
this positive mindset into our performance
and begin the climb to achieving sustainable,
consistent success. I look forward to all
members having the opportunity to see firsthand the growth of our teams and individual
players over the next 12 month period.
Tim Nielsen
General Manager High Performance

NEIL DANSIE MEDAL
PRESENTATION
Callum Ferguson and
Sarah Taylor major winners

Callum Ferguson and Sarah Taylor were the
major winners at South Australian cricket’s
night of nights, the Neil Dansie Medal
presentation, held in the Ian McLachlan Room
at Adelaide Oval.
In his tenth season with the West End
Redbacks, Ferguson had an outstanding
summer. He finished the Matador One-Day
Cup as the Redbacks’ leading run scorer and
also featured in the top five run scorers for the
tournament. Ferguson carried this form into the
Bupa Sheffield Shield, where he scored four
centuries from his ten matches and was the
third highest run scorer in the competition with
836 runs at an average of 52.25.
Ferguson dominated the night, also taking
home the Lord Hampden Trophy for best
first-class player and the Matador One-Day
Cup Player of the Year, as well as one-day
and first-class batting trophies. He was also
recently named in the Australian Cricketers
Association’s one-day and four-day
All*Star teams.
Leg-spinner Adam Zampa was recognised
with several awards following his breakthrough
season. Zampa was awarded the first-class and
one-day bowling trophies, as well as the Barry
Jarman Most Improved Trophy.
English international Sarah Taylor was
recognised for her impressive debut season
with the Breezair SA Scorpions, claiming
the Andrea McCauley Trophy for the most
outstanding cricketer in the Women’s National
Cricket League and Women’s Twenty20
competitions.

Taylor compiled 438 runs; averaging 28.7
and 21.6 across both T20 and 50-over formats
and with a highest score of 81 not out. With a
reputation as one of the world’s best female
wicket-keepers, Taylor completed eight catches
and four stumpings. She was also awarded the
Women’s National Cricket League
Batting Award.
Sam Raphael was named the winner of the
Barry ‘Nugget’ Rees Award, which recognises
the West End Redbacks player who exemplifies
passion, humility, integrity, team work and
respect for the game. Despite limited
opportunities with the Redbacks this season,
Raphael remained a positive and contributing
member of the squad. He was named captain
of the South Australian Toyota Future’s League
side, where he led the way with the bat,
finishing the season as the third highest run
scorer with 386 runs at an average of 77.20.
The Peter Wang award for a youth squad
cricketer who displays excellent cricket ability,
high work ethic, admirable team loyalty,
distinguished character and respect for the
spirit of the game was awarded to 17-year old,
Patrick Page. Named Player of the Tournament
at the U17 National Championships, Page
was the highest run-scorer for South Australia
at both the U17 and U19 Nationals. His
outstanding performances were rewarded
with selection in his first Toyota Future’s League
Match and he recently toured England with the
Australian U19 squad.

AWARDS AND WINNERS
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STATE INDIGENOUS PLAYER OF
THE YEAR

MAJOR GENERAL SYMES
TROPHY FOR BATTING

MAJOR GENERAL SYMES
TROPHY FOR BOWLING

Ayden McGregor-Baptista

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest batting aggregate
in the Under-19 Male
Championships.

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest bowling aggregate
in the Under-19 Male
Championships.

Patrick Page

Ben Williams

SHELLEY NITSCHKE TROPHY
Awarded to the most
outstanding South
Australian cricketer of the
Under-18 Female National
Championships.
Annie O’Neil

AE SMITH TROPHY FOR
BATTING

MOST IMPROVED TROPHY
SCORPION SQUAD

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest batting aggregate in
the Under-17 Male National
Championships.

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer under
25 years of age, who
has displayed significant
improvement in their cricket
ability, a high work ethic,
team loyalty, distinguished
character and respect for
the game during the past
12 months.

Patrick Page
AE SMITH TROPHY FOR
BOWLING
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest bowling aggregate in
the Under-17 Male National
Championships.
Tyrell Sinclair and Ayden
McGregor-Baptista

Alex Price
ANDREA MCCAULEY TROPHY
Awarded to the most
outstanding cricketer in the
Women’s National Cricket
League and Women’s T20.

THE JAMES IRWIN TROPHY
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest batting aggregate in
all first class matches.
Callum Ferguson
THE WL BRIDGLAND TROPHY
Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest bowling aggregate in
all first class matches.
Adam Zampa
THE LORD HAMPDEN TROPHY
Awarded to the player who
accumulates the most votes
for all matches during the first
class season.

PETER WANG PERPETUAL
MEMORIAL AWARD

Sarah Taylor

Recognises a youth squad
cricketer who displays
excellent cricket ability,
high work ethic, admirable
team loyalty, distinguished
character and respect for the
spirit of the game.

WH HAYES TROPHY FOR
BATTING

Patrick Page

Sam Raphael

BATTING TROPHY WOMEN’S
NATIONAL CRICKET LEAGUE

WH HAYES TROPHY FOR
BOWLING

Sam Raphael

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest batting aggregate in
the Women’s National
Cricket League.

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest bowling aggregate
in the Toyota Futures League
competition.

BARRY JARMAN MOST
IMPROVED TROPHY

Lauren Ebsary

Cameron Valente

BOWLING TROPHY WOMEN’S
NATIONAL CRICKET LEAGUE

MATADOR ONE-DAY CUP
BATTING TROPHY

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest bowling aggregate in
the Women’s National
Cricket League.

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest batting aggregate
in the Ryobi One Day Cup
competition.

Amanda Wellington

Callum Ferguson

WOMEN’S NATIONAL CRICKET
LEAGUE T20 BATTING

MATADOR ONE-DAY CUP
BOWLING TROPHY

Sarah Taylor

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest bowling aggregate
in the Ryobi One Day Cup
competition.

WOMEN’S NATIONAL CRICKET
LEAGUE T20 BOWLING
Amanda Wellington

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer with the
highest batting aggregate
in the Toyota Futures League
competition.

Adam Zampa
RYOBI ONE DAY CUP PLAYER
OF THE YEAR
Awarded to the most
outstanding South Australian
cricketer in the one day
domestic competition
this season.
Callum Ferguson

Callum Ferguson
BARRY “NUGGET” REES AWARD
Awarded to the player who
annually displays passion for
South Australia and South
Australian cricket, humility,
honesty and integrity, team
work and respect for the
game of cricket.

Awarded to the South
Australian cricketer under
25 years of age, who
has displayed significant
improvement in their cricket
ability, a high work ethic,
team loyalty, distinguished
character and respect for the
game during the past
12 months.
Adam Zampa
NEIL DANSIE MEDAL (MOST
VALUABLE PLAYER)
Awarded to the most
outstanding South Australian
male cricketer across all
forms of the game taking
into account performance,
competitiveness, team spirit
and work ethic. It is named
after the patriarch of South
Australian cricket–Neil Dansie
OAM. Affectionately known as
‘Nodder’, Neil has made an
immeasurable contribution to
sport in South Australia and
has been involved in cricket
in this State for more than
65 years.
Callum Ferguson

SACA EMERGING
REDBACKS PROGRAM
“…we are ensuring our players of the
future are ‘first-class ready’.”

In addition, other invited players joined the
squad for short and longer term commitments:

ANOTHER GOOD YEAR FOR
EMERGING REDBACKS

Daniel Drew (West Torrens)

In its fourth year, the Emerging Redbacks
Program continues to show its vital importance
in the preparation and development of future
West End Redbacks. By adding immediate
depth, as well as exposing young players to
high-performance training habits and playing
environments, we are ensuring our players of
the future are ‘first-class ready’ and able to
contribute to team success both on and off
the field for South Australia.
The selected squad for the 2014/15
season was:

Spencer Johnson (West Torrens)
Ben Williams (West Torrens)
Tim Evans (Tea Tree Gull)
Sean Nottle (Tea Tree Gully)
Jake Winter (Glenelg)
David Grant (Kensington)
Michael Cormack (Adelaide)
Lachlan Blunden (Prospect)
Michael Cranmer (East Torrens)
Patrick Page (Tea Tree Gully)

Joel Garrett (Glenelg)
Luke Robins (East Torrens)
Cameron Williams (Northern Districts)
Sam Miller (Prospect)
Alex Carey (Glenelg)
Joel Logan (University)
Jake Weatherald (Sturt)
Elliott Opie (Kensington)
Akash Patel (Glenelg)
Nick Clayfield (Glenelg)
Isaiah Borgas (Northern Districts)
Phil Neate (Adelaide)
Nick Benton (Port Adelaide)
Matthew Nobes (Glenelg)
Cameron Valente (Adelaide)
Harry Nielsen (Woodville)
Jack Pudney (Glenelg)
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About 50 per cent of the players in the squad
were selected at different times through the
season to represent South Australia in the
Toyota Futures League, with Akash Patel and
Joel Logan making their debuts this season.
This experience and success will no doubt
assist them individually to press for first-class
selection and add depth to our current West
End Redbacks Squad.
A highlight of the year’s program was the
progression of players to the Redbacks
squad and team. Nick Benton and Cameron
Valente were both added to the squad during
the season and Nick Benton made his firstclass debut in the last shield game against
Queensland. Over the past four years, 18
Emerging Redbacks have progressed onto
West End Redbacks’ contracts or have been
selected in the Redbacks’ First-Class or
One-Day teams.
Further recognition goes to Joel Logan, Nick
Benton, Elliott Opie, Cameron Valente, Michael
Cranmer and Tim Evans who were selected in
the SACA Grade Cricket Team of the Year.
Across the season the squad was exposed to
a number of South Australia’s best coaches
including John Palmer, Ben Cameron, Brad
Young and Rob Cassell. Newly appointed
State Talent Manager, Shaun Williams, was
outstanding in assisting the players to develop
with his extensive knowledge and background
in coaching at an international and state/
territory level.
Shane McDermott
Emerging Redbacks Head Coach

Right: Cameron Valente in action for South Australia’s
Toyota Futures League side.

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN DEBUTS

LES FAVELL FOUNDATION

WEST END REDBACKS – BUPA SHEFFIELD SHIELD

Each season The Les Favell Foundation
supports young cricketers in South Australia
achieve their dreams of playing at the highest
level. The foundation was established in
October 1988 to assist in the promotion of
young, underprivileged cricketers in South
Australia in all aspects of cricket education
including coaching, training and competition
both within South Australia and interstate
or overseas and in physical and sports
education and education generally. In 1994
the objectives were expanded to include
‘disadvantaged’ cricketers. The Foundation’s
first recipient was former West End Redbacks
batsman and Assistant Coach, Jeff Vaughan.

Nick Benton

Jake Lehmann

Alex Ross
WEST END REDBACKS – MATADOR ONE-DAY CUP
Tim Davey

Alex Gregory

Trent Lawford

Jake Lehmann

Nick Winter
BREEZAIR SA SCORPIONS – WT20
Sophie Devine

Brittany Perry

Katelyn Pope

Sarah Taylor

BREEZAIR SA SCORPIONS – WNCL
Sophie Devine

Brittany Perry

Katelyn Pope

Sarah Taylor

BASIL SELLERS SCHOLARSHIP
PROGRAM
The Basil Sellers Scholarship Program
continued in the 2014/15 season, once again
with generous support from Basil Sellers.
Cameron Valente was the successful recipient
to complete the season’s program.
Cameron is a right-arm medium fast bowler
and right-hand batsman from the Adelaide
Cricket Club, having progressed through the
SACA pathway from the youth U15, U17 and
U19 male programs. As part of the scholarship,
Cameron was employed full-time by the
SACA High Performance department while
undertaking a Certificate III in Sport and
Recreation and also training with the West End
Redbacks squad.

CRITERIA
The criteria used for selection of foundation
scholarship holders are:
• Under 18 years of age.
• Potential to play A grade cricket.
• They must be disadvantaged in some
manner. This may include: disadvantaged
by distance and having to travel large
distances to play grade cricket in Adelaide,
financially disadvantaged, home situation
or any other means.
• Must be persons who will represent
the foundation in a positive and
responsible manner.
Les Favell Foundation scholarship recipients
2014/15
Georgia Weatherspoon
Kyle Giniotis
Blake Gutsche
Joel Tilbrook

During his scholarship this season, Cameron
was selected in the South Australian Shield
team to play Tasmania and Queensland, where
he was named 12th man for both matches.

Ben Pengelley

He also represented South Australia in the
Toyota Futures League and was the leading
wicket taker for the season.

Ellie Falconer

Jake Wohling
Ryan Hosking

Throughout the traineeship, Cameron has
learnt many new skills, including providing a
crucial role in assisting the High Performance
department in many of the operational tasks
involved in the West End Redbacks, Breezair SA
Scorpions and youth squads.
He has spent the winter months in 2015
training with the West End Redbacks, having
been awarded a rookie contract for the
2015/16 season.
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Top right: Darren Lehmann presents his son, Jake Lehmann
with his cap ahead of his first-class debut for South Australia.
Bottom right: Harry Nielsen in action during the Toyota
Futures League.

OUR THANKS TO DARREN BERRY
AND JOHAN BOTHA
It has been a time of change for South
Australian cricket, with coach Darren Berry
and captain Johan Botha moving on.
After guiding the West End Redbacks to the
2010/11 KFC Twenty20 Big Bash title, Darren
was appointed as the full-time coach of
South Australia in all formats. The West End
Redbacks won their second title under Berry in
consecutive summers, taking out the 2011/12
Ryobi One-Day Cup.
Johan was the captain for South Australia for
23 first class matches after joining the side for
the 2012/13 season.
Under their leadership, our team has
developed a tougher attitude and competitive
edge and a number of our young players
have flourished. We thank both of them for
everything they have contributed to South
Australian cricket during their time here
and wish them the best with their
future endeavours.

BREEZAIR SA SCORPIONS’
SEASON REVIEW
A season to remember

The Breezair SA Scorpions had a season to
remember both on and off the field in 2014/15.
The pre-season featured a number of firsts,
with Andrea McCauley appointed as SACA’s
first full-time head coach of the female cricket
program while the signing of Sarah Taylor
(England) and Sophie Devine (New Zealand)
marked the first time the Breezair SA Scorpions
have had two international players.
The SACA also welcomed Seeley International
as the first official naming rights partner of
the Scorpions, which became known as the
Breezair SA Scorpions. This partnership provided
both parties with new levels of exposure and
the SACA thanks Frank Seeley and Seeley
International for his ongoing support of
women’s cricket in South Australia.
On the field, the Scorpions made the most
of their ‘underdog’ tag by securing their first
finals berth since 2007/08. The Scorpions’
spin-brigade in Amanda Wellington, Alex Price
and Hannah Perry proved to be a handful
for opposition teams all season while usual
suspects Megan Schutt and Lauren Ebsary
along with Devine and Taylor, led the way with
consistent performances.

WOMEN’S NATIONAL
CRICKET LEAGUE
SCORPIONS COME ALIVE IN 50-OVER GAME
The Scorpions were expected to blossom in the
T20 format this season but it was in the 50-over
game that the side really came to life.
The first 50-over win came against the ACT in
round 3, thanks largely to a captain’s knock
from Lauren Ebsary (94 from 97 balls). The side’s
spin trio also put on a dominant performance,
combining for six wickets between them.
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Victory against Western Australia in round 5
was followed by a three-wicket victory over
Tasmania the following round; Amanda
Wellington producing an outstanding display
of leg-spin bowling, claiming 6/25 and proving
to be the difference between the two sides.
Entering the final minor round within arm’s
reach of a finals berth, the Scorpions got the
better of a dominant NSW outfit in a major
upset in Adelaide. Three wickets a-piece to
fast bowler Megan Schutt and spinner Alex

Price helped restrict the visitors to 236 before
Tegan McPharlin (65) and Lauren Ebsary (50*)
registered half-centuries to help the Scorpions
chase down the total with an over to go.
The Scorpions’ semi-final showdown with
Queensland was an action-packed but lowscoring affair with Schutt again dominant, this
time claiming 4/20 with the ball to restrict the
opposition to just 90. Chasing 91 runs to win,
the Scorpions were on the back foot early
after finding themselves 7/50 as Megan Schutt
joined Sarah Taylor at the crease; the pair
slowly wearing down the total to see their side
home with three wickets in hand.
In the final, facing a highly experienced NSW
side, the Scorpions struggled to stem the
flow of runs as the defending champions
posted an imposing 4/279 from 50 overs. The
Scorpions made a steady start to the chase
before Tegan McPharlin (13) was dismissed
by Sarah Aley attempting to improve the run
rate. Fellow opener Bridget Patterson (26)
showed persistence with the bat, but when
she fell, the Scorpions were in trouble at 3/55.
The pair’s dismissal brought Lauren Ebsary to
the crease, the skipper looking in good touch
before an Ellyse Perry bouncer bought about
her undoing. The remaining Scorpions’ batters
failed to fire, with the side bowled out for 135
and well short of the NSW total.
It was once again a much-improved effort by
the Scorpions in the 50-over format, especially
in the bowling department. Amanda Wellington
(10 wickets), Alex Price (eight wickets) and
Hannah Perry (six wickets) joined forces in
the spin department and were superb. Pace
bowlers Samantha Betts (eight wickets) and
Megan Schutt (seven wickets) also proved to
be game-changers throughout the season.
Wellington’s performances were recognised
with selection in the Commonwealth Bank
Shooting Stars training camp in Sri Lanka in
mid-February as well as the Shooting Stars tour
against the England Women’s Academy in
Dubai from 30 March to 13 April.

WOMEN’S T20
SARAH TAYLOR PROVES SHE’S THE STAR
WITH THE BAT
The Scorpions also took a while to get going
in the shorter format of the game, finishing the
season in fifth spot on the ladder with five wins
and a washout.
Their first points of the season came in round
3 with two comfortable wins against the
ACT. Sarah Taylor was the star with the bat,
top scoring on both occasions including a
blistering 81 from 51 balls that included
12 boundaries.
Two round 5 victories against Western Australia
highlighted the impact of Taylor and fastbowler Sophie Devine, the latter outstanding
with the ball and equally brutal with the willow.
Devine’s combined figures of 4/16 from two
innings showing her class and experience.
Another solid performance from the Scorpions’
bowlers secured victory against Tasmania a
round later. Hannah Perry led the way, claiming
3/13 while Megan Schutt was outstanding with
figures of 1/9 from her four overs.
International recruit Sarah Taylor (206 runs)
and the ever-reliable Lauren Ebsary (180)
led the way with the bat for the Scorpions
while it was youngster Amanda Wellington
who continued to impress with the new ball,
claiming 12 wickets in 11 matches.

MATADOR ONE DAY
CUP SEASON REVIEW
West End Redbacks result
disappoints as injuries take their toll

It was a disappointing One-Day campaign
for the West End Redbacks in 2014. Early
injuries to Tim Ludeman and Johan Botha
and the absence of Kane Richardson on
national duties proved challenging, but offered
opportunities for other players to stand up.
Callum Ferguson had another strong One-Day
campaign, finishing as the West End Redbacks’
top run scorer and also featuring in the
top-five run scorers for the tournament. Batting
at number four, Ferguson scored three half
centuries including 98 against the myFoot
Dr Queensland Bulls which included
11 boundaries and one six.
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His partnerships with Alex Ross often became
the foundation of the West End Redbacks’ total.
Ross also made the most of his opportunities.
After just four One-Day games the previous
summer, Ross was the second-highest
run scorer for the team and was the West
End Redbacks’ most consistent batsman,
contributing two half-centuries and turning
heads with the effectiveness of his sweep shot.

Emerging leg-spinner Adam Zampa was the
talk of the tournament, with many identifying
him as a smokey for the Australian squad
for the ICC Cricket World Cup. Zampa was a
stand-out for the West End Redbacks, taking
ten wickets for the tournament including his
man-of-the-match performance against the
Alcohol. Think Again Western Warriors where
he finished with figures of 4/18.
While his tournament was limited by injury,
Johan Botha made the most of his three
matches. Botha continued to starve opposition
batsmen the opportunity to score freely and
finished with an economy rate of 3.55, the
third best in the tournament. He smashed 41
from just 26 deliveries in the opening match
before scoring a half-century and taking two
key wickets against the Victorian Bushrangers
following his return to the side.
Five players were given their opportunity to
make their One-Day debut for South Australia
through the tournament – Tim Davey, Alex
Gregory, Trent Lawford, Jake Lehmann and
Nick Winter.

WEST END REDBACKS
SHIELD CRICKET
Only two outright wins –
but plenty of highlights

In a season that started with such promise
with a win at the redeveloped Adelaide Oval
against Queensland, the 2014/15 summer
proved to be challenging. While the West End
Redbacks finished with just two outright wins,
there were plenty of highlights as the side
came together through difficult times and
emerged stronger than ever.
The season started on a high, with Chadd
Sayers’ history-making hat-trick in the opening
match. The first by a South Australian in a firstclass match in 37 years, Sayers’ hat-trick was a
game changer, putting the West End Redbacks
in control of the match before his six-wicket
haul in the second innings secured the match.
Sidelined with injury for the second half of the
season, Sayers will be a welcome return for
next summer.
In his tenth season with the West End
Redbacks, Ferguson continued the strong form,
which saw him win his second consecutive
Lord Hampden Trophy last season. Ferguson
scored four centuries from his ten matches
and was the third-highest run scorer in the
competition with a season average of 52.25.
While not his highest score of the summer, a
highlight of Ferguson’s season would have
had to be his second-innings unbeaten 117
when the West End Redbacks chased down
Tasmania at Gliderol Stadium for a longawaited second win of the competition.
The winner of last year’s Neil Dansie Medal,
Tom Cooper continued his strong form into
the start of this Bupa Sheffield Shield season.
With a number of dominant performances
with the bat including centuries against New
South Wales and Tasmania, Cooper’s ability
to regularly build a formidable partnership to
stabilise the team reinforced his value in the
West End Redbacks’ middle order. A senior
member of the side, Cooper’s late season
resurgence will hopefully carry through to
next season.
Adam Zampa emerged this season as a
young leg-spinner of the future, with stand-out
performances showing the skill and maturity
he has added to his game since last season.
His four-wicket haul in the opening match
against the Queensland Bulls was outstanding,
but it has been his role with the bat that
has seen him stand out in the later parts of
the season.

Zampa smashed three half-centuries in the
five matches after the Christmas break and
finished in the top ten for strike rate in the
league. His ability to make an impact at the
end of the batting innings made him a vital
part of the West End Redbacks’ line-up.
With only six players from our first victorious
match featured in our final match of the
season, selectors continued to be challenged
but they were rewarded by the performances
of some of the less experienced members of
the squad. Alex Ross and our two father-son
debutants, Jake Lehmann and Nick Benton,
all impressed in their opportunities late in
the season and have all been rewarded
with senior contracts for the upcoming
2015/16 season.
It was a tough year for the West End Redbacks,
both on and off the field. In the tragic passing
of Phillip Hughes, we lost a team mate, friend
and brother. Phillip’s name and cap number
was embroidered on our shirts this season
and he will forever remain a part of South
Australian cricket.
We are proud to continue our longstanding
partnership with West End Brewery. It has an
enduring and proud association with cricket
in South Australia which dates back more than
50 years and supports all levels of the game
throughout South Australia and we greatly
appreciate their ongoing support.

ADELAIDE STRIKERS
‘Best season yet’ – and into the finals

The fans rallied and records were smashed as
the Adelaide Strikers had their best season in
BBL|04. While the new recruits Brad Hodge, Ben
Laughlin and Kieron Pollard showed us how
it is done on the big stage, the emergence of
Tim Ludeman and Travis Head provided local
heroes. Their skills captured the imagination of
the Strikeforce and catapulted the Strikers to
their first Big Bash finals appearance.
Recruited from the Hobart Hurricanes, Ben
Laughlin made an instant impact with the
Adelaide Strikers. Laughlin impressed fans with
his gritty determination as he partnered with
Kane Richardson to build arguably the best
death-bowling combination in the competition.
Laughlin claimed 13 wickets for the season, the
fourth highest in the league, and his match-tomatch consistency gave the Adelaide Strikers
a firm foundation from which they built their
outstanding season.
After limited opportunities in BBL|03, Travis
Head showed improved maturity with the bat
throughout this season. While a number of the
Strikers’ batsmen found form at Adelaide Oval,
it was Head who thrived away from home, with
his two stand-out performances coming at the
Gabba (57* off 40) and Etihad Stadium (71
off 34), where he secured man-of-the-match
honours against the Renegades.
Tim Ludeman started the season on a high as
he returned to the top of the order for BBL|04.
In the opening match of the season, Ludeman
scored the fastest half-century in BBL history
from just 18 deliveries, the most sixes by an
Adelaide Striker in an innings and the highest
score at the Adelaide Oval in BBL history with
92 off 44 deliveries. Ludeman finished the
competition with the second highest number
of sixes and seventh in the league for runs
scored, as he paired with big-hitting recruit
Craig Simmons to set up the Strikers’ innings
through the power play.
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The Strike Force flocked to Adelaide Oval
to support their side throughout BBL|04.
Adelaide crowds smashed records throughout
the season, but the support for the Strikers’
first semi-final appearance surpassed all
expectations. It was the biggest ever crowd at
a cricket fixture at Adelaide Oval, the biggest
crowd since the redevelopment of Adelaide
Oval and the highest in BBL history as 52,633
fans packed into Adelaide Oval. The Strike
Force are the best fans in the league and their
support will no doubt drive the team to take
that one step further next summer.

Beyond match day, the Adelaide Strikers
continued to promote cricket to a new
generation of fans. More than 800 junior
cricketers from 15 metropolitan and regional
clubs also took part in the second Nippy’s
Adopt a Striker evening at Adelaide Oval.
The participants not only had the chance
to spend an evening building skills with their
adopted Striker, but were also rewarded with
tickets to the Adelaide Strikers’ final home
game. The Strikers also hosted school holidays
clinics for about 400 young Strikers fans across
metropolitan and regional areas of SA
in January.
Our partnership with the Leukaemia
Foundation continued to build this season,
with money raised through online donations
for the World’s Greatest Shave. The Leukaemia
Foundation again made the final match their
own, raising awareness through shaving heads,
spraying hair Striker blue and handing out
flashing badges.
West End continued its outstanding support
of the Adelaide Strikers in BBL|04 as principal
partner. West End continued its focus on
supporting cricket players at all levels,
rewarding 45 passionate grass-roots cricket
clubs around South Australia with game tickets,
West End merchandise and money-can’t-buy
experiences.
The Adelaide Strikers also welcomed Jeep as
our major sponsor this season. With the motto
“Don’t hold back”, Jeep was a major presence
at Adelaide Strikers home matches, giving
away a Jeep Cherokee to a lucky Strikers fan
at our last home match against the Sydney
Thunder as well as a fishing experience with
Adelaide Strikers paceman, Gary Putland.

WEST END
PREMIER LEAGUE
PNG continues golden run

WEST END PREMIER
LEAGUE CUP

WEST END PREMIER LEAGUE
T20 CUP

The Northern Mavericks and Eastern Edge
shared the points at the top of the West End
Premier League Cup table.

A competition that showcases the state’s best
cricketers, the West End Premier League, has
unearthed raw and explosive talent within the
Digicel PNG Barramundis.

Edge all-rounder, Timothy Evans, led the way
with the willow, compiling 323 runs at the very
respectable average of 40.38, while former
West End Redbacks squad member, Elliot Opie,
claimed 10 wickets in five matches, including
6/53 against the Northern Territory in round 5.
The West End Premier League Cup combined a
series of one- and two-day matches and, once
again, provided emerging talent from South
Australia, Papua New Guinea and the Northern
Territory the opportunity to pit themselves
against first-class and international cricketers.
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The Barramundis claimed instant success
in the West End Premier League’s inaugural
season last year, and have already defended
that title with a one-wicket win over the
Southern Force in the West End Twenty20 Cup
in mid-December.
Having restricted the Force to just 5/120 from
their 20 overs, thanks largely to the bowling of
Norman Vanua (2/11) and Assad Vala (1/15),
the Barramundis suffered an early set-back
in their chase, losing a number of top-order
batters cheaply.
Opener Tony Ura (29) and Mahuru Dai (25)
dug deep and with the help of PNG’s tailenders, held their nerve to steer their side to
victory with a single off the last ball.
With a number of players involved in the
fourth instalment of the KFC Twenty20 Big Bash
League, the shorter form of the game appears
to suit the boys’ dynamic style of cricket.

Above: Northern Mavericks wicket-keeper, Harry Nielsen.
Right: Eastern Edge batsman, Jake Brown.

EVENTS
BIG CROWDS FLOCK TO 2014/15
SUMMER OF CRICKET
“113,009 the biggest Test attendance for
a non-Ashes test…”
The 2014/15 summer of cricket featured two
international fixtures, attracting record crowds
for a non-Ashes Test match at Adelaide Oval.
The redeveloped Adelaide Oval opened the
international summer when Australia hosted
South Africa during the KFC T20 International
Series in November 2014.
The game drew 26,370 fans – the highest
attendance for the three-game series.
The re-scheduled Test match at Adelaide Oval,
moved forward three days to allow for the
Australian cricket community to attend the
funeral of Phillip Hughes, drew some record
numbers for a non-Ashes Test.
The crowd of 25,619 on day 1 was the
attendance record for a Test match against
India at Adelaide Oval, beating the previous
best crowd of 21,480 on 24 January 2012 – also
a Tuesday.
An attendance of 24,836 was the biggest day 5
Test match total at Adelaide Oval, beating the
Bodyline Series in 1933. The overall attendance
of 113,009 was the biggest on record for a nonAshes test, beating the previous best against
the West Indies in 1961 (112,070).
KFC TWENTY20 INTERNATIONAL –
AUSTRALIA V SOUTH AFRICA
Wednesday 5 November 2014

BBL|04

Strikers semi-final attendance breaks
80-year record
The Adelaide Strikers broke attendance records
at Adelaide Oval during BBL|04, including an
80-year-old record dating back to the Bodyline
Test series. A total of 52,633 people attended
the semi-final between the Adelaide Strikers
and Sydney Sixers on 25 January – the biggest
crowd at a cricket match at Adelaide Oval
since day 2 of the 1933 Bodyline Test match.
The Strikers’ average home crowd before the
final was 36,023, almost 9,000 higher than any
other BBL team and better than any BBL team
in any season.
KFC T20 BIG BASH LEAGUE
Thursday 18 December 2014
Strikers v Melbourne Stars

27,676

Wednesday 31 December 2014
Strikers v Hobart Hurricanes

43,288

Tuesday 6 January 2015
Strikers v Perth Scorchers

42,654

Monday 12 January 2015
Strikers v Sydney Thunder

30,473

Semi Final–Saturday 24 January 2015
Strikers v Sydney Sixers

52,633

BUPA SHEFFIELD SHIELD
26,370

COMMONWEALTH BANK ASHES TEST –
AUSTRALIA V INDIA

No attendance figures were recorded for
Sheffield Shield matches during the 2014/15
season, which featured free entry for patrons.

Tuesday 9 to Saturday 13 December 2014

GAMES PLAYED AT ADELAIDE OVAL

Day 1

25,619

31 October – 3 November 2014

SA v QLD

Day 2

15,397

8 – 11 November 2014

SA v NSW

Day 3

19,518

16 – 19 November 2014

Day 4

27,639

Day 5

24,836

GAMES PLAYED AT GLIDEROL
STADIUM, GLENELG

Total

113,009

SA v VIC

16–19 February 2015

SA v WA

24–27 February 2015

SA v TAS

5–8 March 2015 (Victoria home game)

VIC v SA
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Top right: Nathan Lyon acknowledges his five-wicket haul
during the emotional Test match tribute to Phillip Hughes
in December, 2014.
Bottom right: South African fans celebrate during the KFC
T20 International between Australia and South Africa at
Adelaide Oval on 5 November, 2014.

GAME DEVELOPMENT
CRICKET PARTICIPATION
2014/15

CRICKET PARTNERSHIP
PROGRAM

Four seasons ago, SACA embraced an
ambitious plan to grow cricket participation
by almost 30 per cent, and to achieve
100,000 participants by 2014/15. A strong
focus on engaging primary schools in entry
level programs and linking these programs
to a pathway to club cricket were important
strategies developed. With increased exposure
of cricket through the popular KFC Big Bash
League and, more recently, the very successful
ICC Cricket World Cup, SACA broke through the
100,000 barrier to record 104,919 participants
by the conclusion of the 2014/15 summer – an
excellent result highlighting the popularity of
cricket in South Australia.

SACA continued its successful affiliation
program in 2014/15, working closely with
volunteers and administrators to support
community cricket, with a range of services
provided to associations and clubs. With the
2015 ICC Cricket World Cup also creating
local opportunities for many communities, club
development resources and regional training
sessions were expanded during 2014/15,
achieving our highest level of club and
association engagement.

Summer’s end counts 104,919
participants as SACA exceeds
expectations

Club and association
engagement reaches
new heights

Each season SACA monitors cricket
participation as part of its commitment to
Cricket Australia’s vision of cricket being
Australia’s favourite sport. SACA has a great
understanding of the market and is well
placed to build on cricket’s popularity to
ensure that cricket is the sport of choice for all
South Australians.
THE COUNT SEGMENTED …
2014/15 SA CRICKET PARTICIPATION:
Club cricket competitions

29,353

School cricket programs

20,485

Entry level programs

44,779

Total ‘outdoor’ cricket participation

94,617

Indoor cricket competitions

10,302

Total cricket participation in SA
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104,919

In conjunction with Cricket Australia, SACA will
be launching the new National Player Pathway
Program to cricket stakeholders across
metropolitan and regional South Australia
before the commencement of the 2015/16
season. As part of this rollout, SACA Cricket
Department staff will join with Cricket Australia
staff to meet with as many cricket stakeholders
as possible. This exciting program is designed
to further strengthen cricket participation
pathways in South Australia.

SACA’s Cricket Partnership Program has
affiliated all clubs and associations
across South Australia, providing volunteer
administrators with risk-management tools,
access to the national insurance program,
and best-practice policies and procedures,
including member protection and child-safe
policies, critical for recruiting and screening
volunteers. SACA metropolitan and country
development staff worked with associations
to provide free police checks and childsafe training for club volunteers in junior
competitions along with national coaching
accreditation courses, ensuring compliance
with current legislation.
Training in the MyCricket national online
competition management platform was a
focus with all country areas having a regional
information and hands-on training experience,
coordinated through local school venues and
clubs. All affiliated associations, and those
clubs that participated across a range of
events and participation programs, received
West End Redbacks and Adelaide Strikers
memorabilia, with special offers to attend
matches and further additional promotional
items.
The Cricket Partnership Program also partners
SACA’s affiliated associations and clubs with
external organisations such as the Office for
Recreation and Sport and all associations and
over 90 per cent of our clubs registered in the
STARCLUB Club Development Program, while
affiliated clubs with liquor licences work with
the Australian Drug Foundation’s Good Sports
Alcohol Management Program to provide
subsidised responsible-service-of-alcohol
training. By adopting these best practices,
affiliated organisations are helping to ensure
family friendly, safe, inclusive environments.

Above: Cricket Australia’s 50-year Service to Cricket gold pins and certificates were presented to four
outstanding, long-serving South Australian volunteer cricket supporters, from left, Brian Harvey, Jon
Matthews, Philip Rickards and Klaus Plumeier.

VOLUNTEER RECOGNITION
More than 420 cricket volunteers
thanked for their great work

SACA’s Cricket Partnership Program aims
to recognise the incredible contribution
provided to our sport from volunteers in
our cricket community.
SACA and Cricket Australia commenced the
season with the National Volunteer Recognition
Day, where national and state players and staff
telephoned club and association volunteers
prior to the first match to thank them for their
valuable efforts and wished them good luck
for the upcoming season. More than 420 SA
volunteers were contacted.
On New Year’s Eve, SACA conducted the
Regional Community Cricket Awards, now in
its second year, and outstanding volunteers
from the various formats were recognised.
Five finalists were chosen from each of the
seven regional zones including volunteers
from entry-level MILO in2CRICKET and MILO
T20 Blast Centres, club, association and school
cricket programs. Nearly all 35 finalists from the
metropolitan and country regions attended
the Adelaide Oval’s Cathedral Room function.
They saw the seven regional winners collect
their awards from SACA Chief Executive,
Keith Bradshaw. The culmination of the
regional awards ceremony saw James Lang
announced as the South Australian Community
Cricket Volunteer of the Year. James went on to
represent SA at the Cricket Australia National
Volunteer Recognition ceremony, this season
held at the One Day International match
between Australia and India at the MCG.
James has a long history of volunteering as
an administrator at the Belalie/Mannanarie
Cricket Club, Northern Areas Cricket
Association and Mid North regional zone level.
He’s still playing, coaching and umpiring, and
during the last pre-season he helped SACA
staff deliver a MyCricket Training session for
the three cricket associations in his region.
More recently he has found time to become
an important contributor to the newly formed
SACA Game Development Advisory Committee
and in November provided local coordination

of a very successful ICC World Cup event at
Jamestown. Along with these achievements
he is also currently heavily involved in a major
sporting facility development at Spalding, while
seeking to improve cricket facilities throughout
his region.
James’ energetic commitment to all senior and
junior cricket activities saw him awarded the
top honour, after being acknowledged as the
North West’s Country Regional Volunteer
of the Year.
On Australia Day 2015 more than 250
volunteers visited the Adelaide Oval to attend
the annual SACA Volunteer Recognition
Ceremony, with guests enjoying SACA’s
hospitality in the Ian McLachlan Dining Room
during the final of the Country Living Homes
State-wide T20 Champions Cup. Partners,
coaches, administrators and players from all
regions in the State were invited to recognise
and share their appreciation towards these
inspiring volunteers, with more than 20
recipients presented with the SACA’s 25-Year
Service Medal by the SACA President,
Andrew Sinclair.

Above: South Australian Community Cricket
Volunteer of the Year, James Lang, with SACA
chief executive, Keith Bradshaw.

SACA CLUB FACILITIES GRANT
PROGRAM
57 SA cricket clubs and associations
score grants

SACA continued its Club Facility Grant Program
during the 2014/15 season, confirming grants
to a total of 57 community cricket clubs and
associations across SA.
Grants of up to $5,000 for each club were
awarded, and were prioritised to associations
and clubs that worked alongside stakeholders
to plan and develop their projects. New
centre wickets, artificial turf surfaces, and the
upgrading of major training and practice
facilities were the focus of this funding round.
This season saw a significant increase in
the value of funding applied for, achieved
through planning initiatives and the
increased presence of SACA’s Country Cricket
Development Officers across regional
South Australia.
Funding has been made available via a
financial commitment by the SACA Board to
improve community facilities following the
Adelaide Oval redevelopment. Many clubs
were also successful in receiving joint funding
through the State Government’s Office for
Recreation and Sport, and implemented plans
with their association or local council on larger
projects to improve facilities.
Over the past two previous seasons, 130
cricket clubs have received funding from
SACA towards improving and developing their
facilities, with more than $1.5 million in project
works completed. There was an increased
strategic approach to funding allocations this
season, with priority given to major projects
where club and stakeholder contributions
demonstrated joint planning. By working with
associations and clubs through targeted
facilities planning, SACA’s financial support
in 2014/15 substantially grew investment
in cricket facilities, with the total value of
improvements to community cricket facilities in
excess of $1.2 million.
This increased leverage helped to inspire and
support our tireless volunteers, while assisting
to attract new players and retain current
participants. By helping these clubs to realise
their dreams, SACA was able to improve the
experience for all cricket participants and
ensure that more South Australians are able to
access the game.
Country cricket associations have continued
to embrace the SACA’s Grant Program, with
several receiving broad sources of funding
this season.
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In one of the most significant projects,
Angaston Cricket Club completed a major
project by converting its synthetic centre
wicket to turf. This will result in more A-Grade
teams in the Barossa and Light Cricket
Association having access to turf wickets,
providing high-performance experiences for
regional players.
In the Mid and Upper North regions of SA,
Belalie/Mannanarie, Central/Stirling, Melrose,
Sevenhill, Southport, Warnertown and Lower
North Cricket Clubs received funding, including
Spalding Cricket Club which partnered
with other local sporting clubs, the Office of
Recreation and Sport and the Northern Areas
Council to fund a new major sporting complex
for the community.
Metropolitan clubs also received some much
needed funding, including Central United,
Coromandel Valley Ramblers, Fulham, Ingle
Farm, Mitchell Park, Morphettville Park, Para
Hills, Payneham, Pooraka, Port Noarlunga, South
Road, Warradale, Woodcroft and Woodville
Rechabites. Major projects at Coromandel,
Hope Valley and Unley cricket clubs also
scored funding to create new training areas.
Successful applications aimed at increasing
opportunities for cricket participation,
including boosting the provision of junior and
senior player development programs. Projects
included artificial turf on concrete wickets, new
concrete and turf pitches, clubroom upgrades,
new training facilities and improvements for
practice nets.

NATIONAL COMMUNITY
ENGAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Making cricket more welcoming, more
inclusive
The 2014/15 season marked the launch of the
National Community Engagement Framework,
which features goals designed to significantly
grow cricket among diverse communities by
the 2017/18 season. The framework comprises
four customised strategies to directly influence
the engagement of girls and women,
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders, people
from a multicultural background and people
with a disability. It features a range of initiatives,
including the ‘A Sport for All’ resource, designed
to make cricket more welcoming and inclusive
at all levels.
As part of the launch, SACA announced
the following Community Ambassadors to
further engage communities to grow cricket
participation: Elaine Figallo, Jeremy Johncock,
Daniel McKay and Mohammad Arifi.

Above: Players from the Indian Australian Association of South Australia celebrate winning the inaugural
Friendship Cup, played at Kilburn Cricket Club on 18 January 2015.

GIRLS AND WOMEN’S PROGRAMS
Girls flock to the attractions of cricket

Cricket has proven to be very popular amongst
girls this season, with more than 15,000 girls
participating in the school-based MILO
in2CRICKET Skills program. It’s a four-week
modified program, focused on FUNdamentals,
cricket skills and game sense activities. In
addition to this, 600 girls joined their local
clubs and took part in MILO in2CRICKET and
MILO T20 Blast programs.
The highlight of the season was the success of
the Girls MILO T20 Blast School Cups. SACA, in
conjunction with SAPSASA, coordinated four
regional and two metropolitan School Cups,
with more than 400 girls participating. Drawing
from these School Cups, eight teams from
across the State participated in the SAPSASA
State Carnival, with a record 50 girls trialling for
the South Australian SAPSASA Girls Team.
In the final year of funding, the Super 6 Smash
program continued to be a popular entry level
program for about 80 girls across metropolitan
Adelaide and Mt Gambier.

FRIENDSHIP CUP

Local India vs Pakistan teams compete
on Kilburn turf
The excitement of one of the biggest cricket
matches in World Cup history was not lost on
the local Indian and Pakistani community and
was celebrated in an inaugural local cricket
event run by SACA on 18 January 2015.
More than 1000 people flocked to Kilburn
Cricket Club to celebrate the inaugural
Friendship Cup played between Indian and
Pakistani community teams. The Friendship
Cup Twenty20 match was a collaboration of
the Multicultural Sports and Community Club
(MSCC) and SACA, and brought together two
of the world’s biggest cricketing nations, India
and Pakistan, ahead of Adelaide’s blockbuster
ICC Cricket World Cup clash between the two
sides on Sunday 15 February.
Having restricted the Pakistani side to 92 from
their 20 overs, India made light work of the
chase, passing the total with four overs to spare
thanks largely to an unbeaten 38 from opening
batsman Rajeev George.
While India took home the Cup, there is no
doubt that cricket was the overall winner
as fans of all ages took part in various
activities throughout the day, including
a free come-and-try cricket clinic for boys
and girls, other kids’ activities, Bollywood style
entertainment and a range of Indian and
Pakistani food.

MULTICULTURAL PROGRAMS
750 children pursue Milo cricket
opportunities

This season, over 750 children from
multicultural backgrounds joined their local
clubs and participated in MILO in2CRICKET
and MILO T20 Blast programs. This is growth of
about 200 children from last season.
SACA continues to forge strong relationships
with schools with high multicultural enrolments,
including the Islamic College of South
Australia which has embedded cricket into
its physical education curriculum. A highlight
for the school was having students attend
the Commonwealth Bank Test Match at
Adelaide Oval and participate in On Ground
Entertainment.
With funding from the Office for Recreation
and Sport, SACA has also worked closely with
Kilburn Cricket Club and Woodville South
Cricket Club to establish new junior teams from
their communities.

DISABILITY PROGRAMS

Healthy growth as students get chance
to participate
SACA continued to work with schools
to provide students with a disability the
opportunity to play cricket. Over 500 students
took part in the MILO in2CRICKET Skills
program. In addition to this, 140 children with
a disability joined their local clubs and took
part in the MILO in2CRICKET and MILO T20
Blast programs. This included the initiative from
Reynella Cricket Club, to host a specific centre
for children with a disability.
New relationships were formed with Day Option
providers and Down Syndrome SA, which
resulted in two Community Carnivals for over
100 people with a disability.
Indoor Cricket in South Australia has provided
inclusive programs for over 20 years, and SACA
is pleased to work with ICA Sportzworx Stepney
and Brahma Lodge Indoor Sports Centres to
provide participation-based programs.
SACA, with the support of Lord’s Taverners
Australia – SA Branch, and Inclusive Sports SA,
also supports elite indoor cricketers with an
intellectual disability to compete at the Lord’s
Taverners Shield. In 2014, the team finished
fourth with two team members recognised with
“All-Star” honors – John Nikias and Ben Pattison.
The highlight of the season was the 2015 All
Ability Championships, held in Melbourne,
which included the Inas International
Cricket Series and the Blind Cricket National
Championships.
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South Australian twins Ben and Adam Pattison
were selected to represent Australia in the Inas
International Cricket Series against England.
Unfortunately, Australia lost the series, but
performed very well.

LORD’S TAVERNERS STATEWIDE
INDIGENOUS CARNIVAL

Port Augusta sees Twenty20 rounds; Port
Lincoln takes the prize
Season 2014/15 saw the Lord’s Taverners
Statewide Indigenous Carnival in late
November 2014, and in a move that was
welcomed by the indigenous cricketing
community, it was held in Port Augusta for the
first time. This resulted in an increase in the
number of teams compared to last season.
With ideal playing conditions on both days,
teams from around the State enjoyed two days
of good, competitive cricket. Teams competed
across four rounds of Twenty20 cricket.
Despite losing their final match to Riverland,
Port Lincoln finished as the overall winners
with just 0.6% separating the two sides in the
final standings. Michael O’Brien scored an
impressive 246 runs at an average of 61.50,
making him the deserving winner of the Vince
Copley Medal. SACA would like to thank
the Port Augusta Cricket Association for its
assistance in hosting the event.

INDIGENOUS PROGRAMS

New Aboriginal Cricket Officer will
develop five-year plan
SACA was pleased to receive funding from the
Office for Recreation and Sport to employ an
Aboriginal Cricket Officer this season. The role
is to develop a five-year strategic plan that
addresses cricket participation in regional and
remote areas.
In 2014/15, SACA partnered with the SANFL to
provide cricket opportunities to children in the
APY Lands. SACA visited over 100 indigenous
children from Pipalyatjara, Murputja, Amata
and Ernabella Anangu Schools.
Over 750 indigenous students took part in the
MILO in2CRICKET Skills program. In addition to
this, 80 indigenous children joined their local
clubs and took part in the MILO in2CRICKET
and MILO T20 Blast programs. SACA also has
developed a new relationship with the South
Australian Aboriginal Sports Training Academy,
which will provide exciting new opportunities
in 2015/16.

Above: Members from the victorious South Australian team who won their first Blind Cricket National
Championships title in March 2015.

SCHOOL AMBASSADORS

School ‘cricket champion’ numbers
growing
The School Ambassador Program continued to
grow throughout 2014/15 as SACA continued
to work hard to increase the uptake of the
program, with 554 School Ambassadors in
South Australia out of a possible 785 schools.
The next step towards the ultimate goal
of 100% participation is to engage each
School Ambassador on a more regular basis,
encouraging them to become a cricket
‘champion’ in their school. This role includes
the School Ambassador rolling out programs
within their school and boosting cricket
participation at a grassroots level.

SACA PRIMARY SCHOOL
COMPETITION

“The only regular weekly competition at
this age level in Australia”
SACA Game Development staff continued
to work closely with primary schools in
the metropolitan area to coordinate a
weekly Primary School competition. This is
conducted in school terms 1 and 4 and is a
key component of the cricket participation
and development pathway in South Australia.
The SACA Primary School competition is
delivered in a modified format to ensure
increased opportunities for all. The eight-a-side
team format is also extremely popular with
parents due to the reduced time commitment.
SACA leads the way nationally with primary
school cricket programs by providing the
only regular weekly competition at this age
level in Australia. SACA appreciates the
support provided by primary school cricket
ambassadors and the many volunteers
who assist in ensuring the competition runs
smoothly each weekend.

INAUGURAL NATIONAL ALLABILITIES CHAMPIONSHIPS
Blind cricket makes history

South Australian Blind Cricket made history this
season when it claimed a first national
title since debuting in the competition
45 years ago.
Travelling to Melbourne to compete against
NSW, ACT, QLD and VIC as part of the inaugural
National All-Abilities Championships, the South
Australian side qualified for the final with three
wins; their only loss occurring against fellow
finalists, Queensland.
With the Turner Short Cup up for grabs, South
Australia opted to field first and made inroads
early as Queensland slumped to 3/12 with
Steve Palmer (2/28) doing the bulk of the
damage. An unbeaten 96 from Queensland’s
Lindsay Heaven helped his side post a
competitive 8/188 from their 20 overs.
After a rough start to the chase, South
Australian all-rounder Ricky Segura (30), Steffan
Nero (33) and captain Mark Haskett (58)
steadied the ship. With six runs required off the
final over, it was the ‘skipper’ Haskett who held
his nerve, scoring four runs off two balls before
three byes from the wicket keeper gifted the
Croweaters the win.
All team members contributed well throughout
the tournament with captain Mark Haskett,
vice-captain Stephen Palmer, Ricky Segura,
Lachlan Wallace, Steffan Nero, Michael Zannis,
Praveen Shankar the stand-out performers.
Such achievement could not have been made
possible without the hard work, commitment
and support of all staff and crew involved. A
special mention must go to coach, Amir Latifi,
Team Manager, Luke Wallace and Physio,
Vanessa Alvaro.

MILO in2CRICKET
First-timers among 3,000
youngster cricketers

Season 2014/15 saw the SACA MILO
in2CRICKET program gain in popularity as more
than 3,000 South Australian children registered
for the entry level participation program, many
experiencing cricket for the first time.

OTHER HIGHLIGHTS OF THE 2014/15 MILO
IN2CRICKET PROGRAM INCLUDED:

The program, designed for five to seven-yearolds, involves fun, safe activities that teach
children cricket basic skills, in a supportive,
non-competitive environment.

• 12 boys and girls stood side-by-side with
the Australian cricket team during the
National Anthem ceremony prior to the
Commonwealth Bank Test Match against
India at Adelaide Oval.

SACA’s school visit program provided more
than 35,000 children from schools across
the state the opportunity to participate in
promotional clinics inspired to promote the
fun and interactive nature of the MILO
in2CRICKET program.
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The school visit program has been very
successful in promoting junior participation
over the past few seasons and SACA continues
to enhance the program to ensure it delivers
a fantastic product to help grow interest and
participation in cricket.
On-ground entertainment opportunities served
as a conduit for boys and girls to meet and
identify with elite cricketers representing their
city, state or country and to experience what it
is like to stand in their shoes on the picturesque
Adelaide Oval.

• 100 boys and girls given the opportunity to
play Pictionary with Peter Siddle, Ryan Harris
and Nathan Lyon at Adelaide Oval.

• 385 boys and girls took to the field during the
lunch break on days 1 to 4 of the same Test
Match to experience playing cricket on the
hallowed turf of Adelaide Oval.
• 75 boys and girls formed a Guard of Honour,
receiving ‘hi-fives’ from the Adelaide Strikers
as they took to the field at each of their
BBL|04 home games
MORE ABOUT MILO IN2CRICKET
The MILO in2CRICKET Skills Program is a fourweek, entry level program aimed at primary
school-aged children and has a high focus
on motor skills and skill development through
basic cricket skills and game sense activities.
The program is delivered in metropolitan and
regional areas to ensure the program is spread
as widely as possible.

Above: Adelaide Strikers paceman, Gary Putland, gets involved in a MILO T20 Blast clinic at Unley Oval.

Throughout 2014/15 the program was
delivered to 35,000 participants across South
Australia. It is hoped that by providing a first
touch point to cricket that participants will filter
through to more formal cricket programs and
become the club cricketers of tomorrow.

MILO T20 BLAST

75 per cent growth as boys and girls
pursue junior club cricket
The MILO T20 Blast program grew significantly
in 2014/15 with more than 1,200 boys and
girls registering. MILO T20 Blast is now firmly
entrenched in the National Player Pathway and
is the preferred program to prepare boys and
girls for junior club cricket. The reduced time
commitment for families (90 minutes per week)
and the engaging and exciting format saw
a 75 per cent growth in total participants
this season.
The South Central Junior Cricket Association
and the Hills Cricket Association were the first
associations to formally adopt MILO T20 Blast
into their pathways, in place of their existing
U9 and U10 competitions respectively. Both
associations experienced substantial increases
in participation and resoundingly positive
feedback on the exciting, accessible, fun and
safe program. Discussions between the other
major junior associations and SACA are well
advanced and 2015/16 will see MILO T20 Blast
formally integrated into the majority of junior
pathways across South Australia.

Equally as important was the introduction of
the program to new areas and non-traditional
markets. In 2014/15, more than 500 boys and
girls participated in MILO T20 Blast ‘Community
Programs’, an eight-week program conducted
on a week night during term 1. These
programs aim to build on the ever-increasing
engagement of boys and girls with the KFC Big
Bash League. The strong link to the Adelaide
Strikers is visible, from the playing shirts and
hats on every child to Adelaide Striker player
appearances at the programs. ‘At-Match
Experiences’ are also a core element of the
MILO T20 Blast Program.
Adelaide Strikers Holiday Clinics are also linked
with the MILO T20 Blast program, with more
than 400 boys and girls taking part during
January. The program was expanded this year
to include regional areas for the first time, with
seven regional clinics complementing nine
metropolitan clinics. These regional programs
were used to establish sustainable junior
programs, in the form of MILO T20 Blast. The 30
clinic participants at Port Elliot led to a term 1
MILO T20 Blast program at Encounter Bay, with
an overwhelming response of 60 registered
participants. On the back of the success
of this program, the Great Southern Cricket
Association will formally adopt MILO T20 Blast
into its pathway from 2015/16 at the U10 level,
further embedding this exciting program in our
regional areas.

UMPIRING AND
COACHING
New ‘single unit’ to boost
umpiring, coaching skills

SACA has increased its focus on the
importance of cricket umpiring and coaching
by creating a single umpiring and coaching
business unit within the cricket department.
Umpiring and coaching are often linked and
although the two roles differ in terms of their
involvement with the game, the development
pathway is surprisingly similar. Both require
a substantial amount of training and
accreditation, a mastery of both technical and
mental skills and a love of the game.
COACHING
Attracting, developing and retaining quality
coaches continued to be a priority in 2014/15,
while a greater focus was placed on the
quality of education provided to coaches
and the accessibility of coach education
opportunities.
South Australia’s participation in Cricket
Australia Coach Accreditation programs
continued to be strong with two new High
Performance (Level 3) coaches, Cameron
Borgas and David Robertson, completing their
requirements. There were a record number of
level 2 participants for a single course (35),
and Community Coaching (level 1) continues
to be the high-volume program with more than
230 new and aspiring coaches taking their first
step along the pathway.
This year SACA produced a new Coaching
Development Framework detailing all the
various programs and opportunities available
to coaches. This framework was distributed to
every club as a resource for new and existing
coaches to use in planning their season.
SACA also partnered with Cricket Australia in
relocating the resources previously developed
on SACA’s in-house coaching platform to the
newly revamped Cricket Coaches Australia
website, making available more than 150
instructional videos across Australia.
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SACA delivered a seminar on coaching
athletes with a disability, a women-only
community coaching course, and a
fielding and throwing session for female
Grade cricketers, as well as specialist fastbowling clinics in five regional and two
metropolitan locations.
Looking ahead, a focus on the new National
Player Pathway will involve all coaches at every
level and an intensive project to identify how
every accredited coach is being utilised will be
undertaken, to enable more strategic targeting
of coach education across the State.
UMPIRING
SACA has moved closer to achieving its goal
of consolidating and managing umpiring
resources throughout metropolitan cricket.
Currently umpires from all metro associations
have the ability to attend SACA training
courses and seminars, participate in SACAmanaged carnivals and be members of the
Umpires and Scorers Association. It seemed
a logical step for SACA to work with affiliated
associations in an effort to centralise the
management of umpires for all their umpiring
duties, regardless of which association they
come from. The first and most significant
step was for SACA to begin to manage and
coordinate the umpires for the Adelaide Turf
Cricket Association. This initiative was important
as it established the first true pathway link for
umpiring from community cricket into Grade
cricket and beyond with lasting benefits
expected for both associations.
This season SACA made over 4,000 individual
umpire appointments to 79 different grades
of competition, using 191 umpires in the
metropolitan area. SACA achieved its strategic
goal of 1,500 accredited umpires throughout
South Australia. This achievement included the
accreditation of school and club volunteers,
including the coaches and parents who still
umpire the majority of cricket played in the
State, the more serious umpiring workforce
and umpires who officiate at a high
performance level.

South Australian umpires performed well at a
national and international level this season,
with Simon Fry continuing his push for higher
ICC duties with inclusion on the ICC Cricket
World Cup umpiring panel. He also earned
selection to his sixth consecutive Sheffield
Shield final and was once again named
Cricket Australia’s Umpire of the Year.
Steve Davis also continued into his seventh
year at the top in the ICC Elite panel before
announcing his retirement following the end
of this year’s England-New Zealand ODI series.
Steve has been an incredible performer
and role model for both South Australian
and Australian Cricket and he is to be
congratulated on a wonderful career.

At State representative levels, SACA had
representation in the U19 Boy’s National
Championships, U17 Boy’s, U18 Girl’s, Imparja
Cup and 15-and-Under Schoolboys.
In 2015/16 SACA will continue to target
growth in umpiring numbers to ensure that
a solid base is built for all community cricket
and create the opportunity to strengthen the
pathway from community cricket, to Grade
cricket and beyond.

COMPETITIONS
BANKSA JUNIOR STATEWIDE
CARNIVALS

Event provides selection chance for state
SAPSASA team
The season’s BankSA Junior Statewide
Carnivals included an U12 and U17 age
group. The U12 carnival comprised a team
from each of the 12 Grade clubs and two
country representative teams. The U17 carnival
included a team from each of the 12 Grade
clubs, two country representative teams,
the SACA U15 State team and a team from
the South Australian Metropolitan Cricket
Association (SAMCA).
The BankSA U12 Statewide Carnival was played
from 15–18 December 2014 and featured four
Twenty20 matches and two one-day matches,
with finals played on the last day. The carnival
provided opportunities for players to display
their ability in an attempt to gain selection
in the state SAPSASA team. The week was
a showcase of strong performances, with
Kensington narrowly defeating Sturt in the
grand final held at Park 25.
In its 68th year the BankSA U17 Shield was
held from 5 to 15 January 2015. This event
continues to provide an opportunity for players
to represent their Grade club outside of normal
weekend competition as well as provide the
chance for the best country, community and
U15 players to compete against the Grade
clubs. Unfortunately, this season’s carnival
was affected by unseasonal January weather,
with rain and heat reducing the amount of
cricket played. The final was played at Park 25
between Sturt and Country Red, with
Sturt proving too strong for the team from
the country.

BANKSA UNDER 12, UNDER 14,
UNDER 16 COUNTRY CARNIVALS
350 battle rain and heat to display
cricket excellence

More than 350 participants competed
across the three junior country carnivals
from November through to January, all of
which provided an important step for country
cricketers in the talent identification pathway.
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The BankSA U12 Country Carnival ran from
17 to 20 November with teams playing four
Twenty20 matches and two One-Day matches.

Unfortunately, rain washed out the last day
leaving Fleurieu South 0.4 points ahead of
Fleurieu North on top of the ladder, handing
them the title. Giacomo Keable from Fleurieu
North was named Player of the Carnival
having scored an impressive 141 runs at
an average of 141.
The best U16 players from South Australia’s
regional areas gathered to compete across
four One-Day matches. The Yorke Peninsula
team shone, claiming the 2014/15 BankSA
U16 Country Cup title. Blake Gutsche
dominated that carnival with the bat and was
named Player of the Carnival after scoring 381
runs at an average of 190.50, including a high
score of 220 not out.
In the first week of January, the BankSA U14
Country Cup was played at Park 25 as well
as at a number of Grade club grounds. Whilst
the schedule included four One-Day games,
rain and heat meant that two of these were
reduced to Twenty20 matches. It was a tight
finish, with Mid North coming out on top, just
1.94 points ahead of Fleurieu South. Mitch
Larsson from Yorke Peninsula was named
Player of the Carnival after some excellent
performances during the week.
At the completion of each carnival, two teams
were selected based on performances to
represent two country sides at each of the
BankSA Statewide Carnivals, including the
BankSA U14 Junior Premier League.
SACA is extremely grateful for the ongoing
support that is provided by BankSA in making
these carnivals an unforgettable experience
for the young country cricketers of South
Australia as well as to all the volunteers and
parents who committed their time to provide
assistance during these events.

90TH BANKSA SENIOR COUNTRY
CARNIVAL
South East finish top; McInerney named
best player

Representative teams from eight SA country
regions travelled to Adelaide in early February
to take part in the 90th BankSA Senior Country
Carnival. The carnival splits the teams into
two zones, comprising four teams with teams
playing three games within their pool, before a
cross-over final to decide the overall winner.
Mid North and South East finished top of their
respective pools and competed in the final
on the recently upgraded Railways Oval.
South East won the toss and elected to bat
with Matthew McInerney and George Kidman
scoring 87 and 73 respectively to amass an
imposing total of 9/301.

Above: Pooraka Cricket Club members celebrate winning the Country Living Homes Twenty20 Champions Cup.

Daniel Doecke was the best with the ball for
Mid North, picking up three wickets.
In response, Mid North was bowled out for
189 with Ben Burgess scoring 55 and Josh
Reader and Alex Hentschke snaring three
wickets a-piece. Matthew McInerney from the
South East was named Player of the Carnival
after scoring 199 runs at an average of 66.

COUNTRY LIVING HOMES
TWENTY20 CHAMPIONS CUP
Pooraka defeat South Gambier in
State final

In its fifth year, the Country Living Homes
Country Twenty20 Champions Cup continued
to progress, with new teams given the
opportunity to be named the best country
Twenty20 side in SA.
The competition was played in a 32-team
format with South Augusta, Freeling, Southern
Eyre South, Stansbury, South Gambier, Central
Broken Hill, Encounter Bay and Meadows
making it through to the quarter/semi-final
days held at Port Pirie and Langhorne Creek.
South Gambier and Southern Eyre South
emerged victorious from these matches and
progressed to the Country Living Homes
Country Twenty20 Champions Cup Final.
The final was held at Railways Oval with South
Gambier chasing down Southern Eyre’s total of
8/112 with 1.1 overs to spare.
Country Living Homes continued its support of
the SAMCA city based Twenty20 Champions
Cup, with Pooraka and Central United playing
off in the Country Living Homes Metropolitan
Twenty20 Champions Cup Final; Pooraka
earning the right to play South Gambier on
Adelaide Oval in the Country Living Homes
Statewide T20 Champions Cup.

In the Country Living Homes Statewide T20
Champions Cup Final, Pooraka compiled
7/137 from their 20 overs with Matthew
Rogers top scoring with 46 not out and
Adam Somerfield picking up three wickets.
Despite a strong start, South Gambier was
restricted to just 87 after a strong team bowling
performance from Pooraka; David Somerfield
top scored for South Gambier with 27.

31ST COMMONWEALTH
BANK AUSTRALIAN CRICKET
CHAMPIONSHIPS –
BENDIGO, VIC
Adam Somerfield voted
best SA player

The SA Outbacks, South Australia’s senior
country team, competed at the Australian
Country Championships in Bendigo in early
January and this year’s side included
some new faces.
Held over 10 days, the competition comprised
two Two-Day fixtures and three One-Day fixtures.
Unfortunately, the side did not get off to the
best of starts, losing their first Two-Day fixture
to a very strong Western Australian side. Day 2
pitted the Outbacks against East Asia Pacific
in a One-Day fixture; the Outbacks dismissing
EAP for 142 before passing the EAP total with 25
overs to spare.
The players made the most of a day-4 rest
day, with two players from each team assisting
with coaching and exhibition games as part
of Cricket Australia’s Gala Day to showcase
female cricket in country Victoria. The full
Outbacks team took part, with their assistance
well received.
Play resumed on day 5 but the Two-Day match
against NSW was washed out. That, combined
with a bad loss to Queensland, ended any
chance for the SA side to take out the title.
Adam Somerfield was again voted the best
player in the SA side winning the Don Woon
Medal for the third consecutive year.

Adam was also selected in the Australian
Country XI of the Championships alongside
team mates Andrew Frick and Ben Smith.
Captain Andrew Frick was named joint winner
of the Championship Bowling Award having
taking 12 wickets at an average of 14.
SACA appreciates the efforts of the Outback’s
support staff, Paul Pasculli (Coach), Ian
Graham (Team Manager) and Brett Lydemore
(Chairman of Selectors).

SAMCA CUPS

Finals matches bring out the
best in teams
Now in their sixth season as an association,
the South Australian Metropolitan Cricket
Association (SAMCA) works hand-in-hand with
SACA to coordinate metropolitan junior cricket
and as well as promoting community cricket
pathways with the State’s regional areas.
In the first two weeks of January annually, junior
representative competitions are held between
the Adelaide Turf Cricket Association, Para
Districts Cricket Association and the South
Central, Western Suburbs and North Eastern
Junior Cricket Associations.
This season’s grand final matches started
with the North Eastern team claiming victory
against the Western Suburbs in the U11s, after
the Western Suburbs finished the minor rounds
undefeated. In the U13s, the North Eastern
team were also undefeated throughout the
week, accounting for the South Central team in
the final. In the second week, the Adelaide Turf
North won a hard-fought final with just an over
to go against Adelaide Turf South.
In the U21 carnival, round robin matches were
played between the Adelaide Turf, Adelaide
and Suburban, Churches and Community and
the Para Districts Cricket Associations. Para
Districts and Adelaide Turf again played off
in the final, which was reduced to a Twenty20
match due to extreme heat conditions. Para
Districts successfully defended its total in a
thrilling match, winning on the second last
ball of the day.
The four senior associations competed in
the annual knock-out rounds of the SAMCA
Shield with Adelaide Turf proving too strong for
Churches and Community and Adelaide and
Suburban losing to a dominant Para Districts.
Adelaide Turf went on to win the SAMCA Shield
final; playing away at Ridley Reserve they
defended their total of 215 after restricting Para
Districts to 171.
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As winners of the SAMCA Senior Shield,
Adelaide Turf qualified to play in the final of the
SAMCA Cup against the winner of the Bank SA
Senior Country Cup. The final pitted Adelaide
Turf against the South Eastern Zone team, and
was dominated early by the SAMCA side as
James Stagg (104) and Corey Knight (64)
steered their side to a total of 241.

In response, the South East batsmen struggled
to make any impact on the scoreboard and
were all out for 125. Adam Somerfield held the
innings together for his side with a patient 45,
but the bowlers from Adelaide Turf were too
good, with Dillon Hiscock (3/34), Mark Barber
(3/39) and Knight (2/13) the main wickettakers. The Man of the Match award was given
to James Stagg for his match-winning century.
Excellent facilities and catering were provided
by the volunteers at the Langhorne Creek
Cricket Club, with both teams enjoying the
hospitality and after-match presentations.

INDOOR CRICKET

Strong improvement, but finals berth
proves elusive
South Australia was selected to host the
2014 Australian Junior Indoor Cricket
Championships, with the event being held
at Morphett Vale ICA in early July. SA’s U15
and U17 Boys sides both secured a spot in
the finals but unfortunately couldn’t progress
into the grand final after a strong week of
performances. Strong improvement was shown
throughout the week from the young and
inexperienced U13 Boys and U17 Girls sides. A
total of four players from South Australia were
then selected in the All-Star teams for their
respective divisions. Euan Fletcher, Cameron
Bullard and Riki Boschma were selected in
the U15 team, whilst Cameron Fatchen was
selected in the U17 Boys team.
The 2014 Australian Open Indoor Cricket
Championships at Werribee produced some
mixed results for SA, the Lord’s Taverners, Open
Men and Open Women’s sides all making
it into the finals. Unfortunately none of the
teams managed to progress to their respective
grand finals. Five SA players were selected to
represent Australia at the WICF Open World
Cup in Wellington which took place in late
October 2014. Mitchell Thomas (Open Men),
Jamie Diener (U20 Men), Stacey Oates (U20
Women), Neisha Iles (Open Women) and
Elizabeth Hall (Open Women) were all part
of the Australian whitewash that saw all age
levels claim World Cup success.
The Over-45 Men’s side was the only
Southern Spiders team to compete at the
2014 Australian Masters Indoor Cricket
Championships in late May in Queensland.
The side did very well to make the semi-finals
before being eliminated. Gary Bartlett and
Grant Freeman were both rewarded for their
impressive form with selected in the
All-Star team.
SACA would like to thank all the dedicated
volunteers who filled the roles of coach and
manager this season without whom these
results would not have been possible.

Above right: The 2014 Australian Junior Indoor Cricket
Championships were held at Morphett Vale ICA.

SA SENIORS CRICKET REVIEW

Tobin ends outstanding year and Quinn
ascends to Australian team
Season 2014/15 was ‘sensational’ for seniors
cricket in South Australia. The success is
attributed to a willing committee and all
players, dedicated to the growth and ongoing
sustainability of the program. Many SA Seniors
members played a record number of games
this year and the club continues to attract new
players, ensuring a healthy competition.
Fantastic support for the SA Seniors is provided
by the Marion Sports and Community Club
through the use of their excellent facilities.
The work performed by Michael Willson with
the fixtures program, Scott Dawson with the
comprehensive newsletter and George Healey,
the tour organiser, is greatly appreciated
and has supported the contributions of
many others. Season 2014/15 also saw the
introduction of the Club Champion award
kindly donated by the previous Patron of the
SDA Seniors and former SACA Vice President,
Rex Sellers. The award was won by Chris
Tobin who had an outstanding year with the
bat scoring 639 runs in 29 matches with an
incredible average of 63.9.
Congratulations to Greg Quinn who was
selected in the Australian team to tour England
in June 2015. Greg will be a big asset to the
team and will hopefully add to the list of SA
Seniors players who have played ODIs for
Australia against England.

BANKSA UNDER 14 JUNIOR
PREMIER LEAGUE

Country Black team prevails through
better run rate
After a successful inaugural season, the
BankSA U14 Junior Premier League returned
in 2014/15 showcasing the State’s best and
brightest young cricketers. The four-day
carnival was held at Park 25 between
19 and 22 January 2015.
The League is made up of six teams, four
selected from Grade Clubs plus two teams
selected from the country. The 12 junior Grade
clubs are aligned with one of four teams: the
Eastern Edge, Northern Mavericks, Southern
Force or Western Grit, in the same format as
the West End Premier League. The two country
teams, Country Red and Country Black, were
selected based on performances at the
BankSA U14 Country Cup and selection trials.
This exciting competition saw each team
participate in two Twenty20 matches and
three One-Day matches over the course of the
competition. The two country sides proved most
dominant this season with both teams finishing
the carnival with four wins and a loss; Country
Black being declared the eventual winners
thanks to a superior run rate.

Seniors cricket in South Australia can look
forward to even bigger and better results
for 2015/16.

CRICKET WORLD CUP METRO
CHALLENGE
Sher e Punjab and The Rams reach
action-packed finals

This was an exciting action-packed Twenty20
competition. Season 2014/15 featured the
right teams with most having multicultural
backgrounds.
Each team played every other team once over
the first seven weeks in a bid to make the final.
Finalists were Sher e Punjab and The Rams.
Other teams were Ghanshyam 11, Punjab
Warriors, Nepalese Cricket Club Adelaide,
Adelaide University Cricket Club, Hampstead
XI, and the International Cricketers Club SA.
The competition was hailed a great success
and with all teams involved putting on a great
exhibition of community cricket weekly.

REID/CONWILLAN TROPHY

SA Boomerangs U20s retain trophy
against Saints
The Southern Boomerangs U20 side has
retained the Reid/Conwillan Trophy with a ninewicket win over St Peter’s College XI.
Requiring 115 for victory, Travis McNamee and
Charlie Holmes strode to the crease, the pair
having an immediate impact as they hit the
ball to all corners of the ground.
McNamee compiled a very entertaining knock
of 71* from 44 balls while powerhouse Holmes
impressed with a quick fire 38 off 12. When
Holmes’ innings came to an end it was Dean
Miller who came to the crease as he partnered
with McNamee to see their side home with
nearly 10 overs to spare.
This was just the third time the Boomerangs
have claimed the Reid/Conwillan Trophy since
its inception just the first time they have won in
consecutive seasons.
Earlier in the day, the Boomerangs started
with a tight bowling display as captain Ayden
McGregor-Baptista used his bowlers in short
spells denying St Peters time to settle.
Mitchell Seekamp (1/1), Dean Miller (1/11)
and Michael Burgoyne (1/9) continued to
apply the pressure and were rewarded with
wickets while youngsters Dylan McGregorBaptista and Felix Holmes showed they are not
far from their big brothers.
Tidy work with the gloves by Boomerangs
wicket keeper Reece Hocking resulted in a
clean stumping before Dean Miller completed
a brilliant diving catch in the deep. The
Boomerangs restricted St Peters to 3/114
from their 20 overs.

NATIONAL INDIGENOUS
CHAMPIONSHIPS –
IMPARJA CUP

Boomerangs celebrate gutsy round 1 win
against NT
Under the guidance of new coach, Stewart
Smith, the Southern Boomerangs focused on
the development of young talent, a move that
should hold the side in good stead in years
to come. The side combined weekly training
sessions with practice matches against the
South Australian U17 side as well as the Dream
Team 15, a visiting side of Indian schoolboys
that provided the Boomerangs with valuable
match practice against a strong opponent.
The National Indigenous Championships, the
Imparja Cup, continues to grow each year
and this season was no exception with a
strong contingent of cricketers from across the
country assembling in Alice Springs in February.
The Boomerangs finished with two wins in fifth
place, one win outside the semi-finals, with
the highlight of the carnival a gutsy round
1 win against the Northern Territory. Having
been bowled out for 64, South Australia put
on a dominant bowling display to dismiss the
home side for just 36 with Luke Lavender (2/1),
Marcus McGregor-Cassady (2/2) and Matthew
Bedgegood (2/6) the pick of the bowlers.
At the conclusion of the carnival, Ayden
McGregor-Baptista was named in the Black
Caps squad as one of the leading players of
the carnival. In six matches, McGregor-Baptista
compiled 134 runs at an average of 26.8,
including a match-winning high score of 54*
in the final round against Tasmania. With the
ball, he claimed five wickets with best figures of
2/14 coming in the same game.
Teams also took part in a number of cultural
activities, with South Australia taking part in
school clinics at Yirara College.
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Right: Southern Boomergangs wicket-keeper,
Jeremy Johncock during the 2015 Imparja Cup.

GRADE CRICKET
GRADE CRICKET REVIEW –
THE ZADOW REPORT

Aligning Grade cricket with the National
Player Pathway program.
COMP CUT FROM 13 TO 12 TEAMS, STRICTER
GOVERNANCE TO FOLLOW
In June 2015, the SACA Board endorsed a
series of recommendations from the Zadow
Report, aimed at aligning Grade cricket with the
National Player Pathway program.
These recommendations were presented to
Grade cricket representatives with changes
to be implemented as soon as the
2015/16 season.
As the link between community cricket and high
performance, the Grade cricket competition will
be reduced from 13 to 12 teams effective from
season 2016/17, a move that will dispense with
the existing bye and align the competition
with the Adelaide Turf Cricket Association’s
(ATCA) scheduling.
The West End Grade Cricket Competition will
be renamed the West End Premier Cricket
Competition, effective season 2015/16. This
will more clearly reflect the purpose of the
competition and align it with the other States
and Territories in Australia that are currently or in
the process of shifting to Premier cricket.
The Association has a responsibility to ensure
that all money it distributes is being spent to
ensure cricket is South Australia’s favourite
sport — a sport for all South Australians. As such,
the loosely tied grants that SACA has provided
clubs in the past will be replaced with a funding
application process to ensure that Grade clubs
are working to help the organisation reach its
strategic objectives.
There also will be stricter governance with new
guidelines to be developed by the SACA Board
to ensure that the Grade Cricket Committee
and competition are working to enhance
cricket in SA.

GRADE CRICKET

A-Grade Evans wins David Hookes
Medal for Player of the Match
The SACA Grade cricket competition continues
to develop junior and senior players in
preparation for the next step in their cricketing
careers across all three formats of the game.
The West End Senior Men’s competition
comprises four grades (A to D), and also
features the West End One Day Cup and West
End Twenty20 Cup competitions, while the SACA
Women’s Grade competition (A and B) played
both the One-Day and T20 matches. The junior
boys showed their ability in the U14 and U16
Red and White competitions, while the Ray
Sutton Shield, BankSA U12 Statewide Cup and
BankSA U17 Shield complemented the
weekend competitions.
Tea Tree Gully translated its previous stellar shortformat results into two-day success, claiming
the West End A Grade title in late March. Led
by Captain Matthew Weaver, the Bulls denied
minor premiers Woodville the silverware as
Tim Evans scored 95 to be awarded the David
Hookes Medal for Player of the Match.
East Torrens secured the West End One-Day
Cup over Sturt at Campbelltown Oval with Luke
Robins being awarded the Rob Zadow Medal
for Player of the Match, while Glenelg took
home the West End T20 Cup at Adelaide Oval,
defeating reigning premiers Tea Tree Gully.
In the Women’s A Grade, Northern Districts
denied Kensington back-to-back premierships
as they won comfortably at Park 25 No. 1
but Kensington were successful in the T20
competition, defeating reigning premiers
West Torrens.
At the coveted Bradman Medal Presentation,
Kensington’s Jake Brown was awarded his
second consecutive Bradman Medal, with
Southern District’s Tahlia McGrath claiming the
Karen Rolton Medal as the most outstanding
Women’s A Grade cricketer.
SACA wishes to acknowledge Lion for the
wonderful support it continues to provide the
South Australian Grade Cricket Competition.
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Right:
1: 2
 014/15 Bradman Medallist, Jake Brown with John Bradman.
2: The victorious Kensington Browns who took out the Women’s A-Grade
Twenty20 Final at Adelaide Oval.
3: K
 aren Rolton Medallist, Tahlia McGrath from Southern District Cricket Club
4: G
 ary Putland (Southern District CC) and Mark Cosgrove (Northern District
CC) promote the FeBLUary Round.
5: Tea Tree Gully won their first West End A-Grade two-day title since 1995/96.
6: N
 orthern District’s Tegan McPharlin, Emma Sampson and Neisha Isles
celebrate winning the SACA Women’s A-Grade Final.
7: The Glenelg Seahorses celebrate winning the West End Twenty20 final
at Adelaide Oval.
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GRADE CRICKET IN
COUNTRY REGIONS
Hughes tragedy stalls
Grade matches

Port Pirie, Port Lincoln and Langhorne Creek
were to host Grade matches in round 5 of the
West End A Grade competition. But a decision
was made to abandon all matches that
weekend following the tragic death of Phillip
Hughes. SACA is pursuing options for country
areas to host matches in the
2015/16 season.

FEBLUARY

SACA continues partnership
The SACA continued its partnership with
beyondblue and its FeBLUary campaign in
2014/15. FeBLUary, now in its sixth year, was
originally established in 2008 by the Southern
District Cricket Club. A FeBLUary round is played
each season with the aim of raising awareness
about depression, anxiety and related mental
health disorders.
As with previous seasons, the Grade cricket
competition celebrates this initiative with a
special FeBLUary round. Each team across all
grades appoints a FeBLUary ambassador who
wears a special FeBLUary cap. At the end of the
match umpires award a FeBLUary medal to the
Player of the Match.
This season FeBLUary was held in round 12 for
Senior Mens, round 5 for Womens and round
10 for Juniors.

COMMUNICATIONS

Media partnership delivers strong
exposure
Grade cricket continued its strong partnerships
with The Advertiser and Messenger Newspapers
and is grateful for the continuing coverage of
the competition. This season saw the Sunday
Mail produce a dedicated Grade cricket article
each week, which detailed the results of the
previous day’s play.
The Cricket in SA Facebook page continued
to be used in conjunction with SACA’s Twitter
account, both of which provided exposure
of the Grade cricket competition and award
winners at end of season presentation functions.

BRADMAN MEDAL

Brown’s season 614 runs at average
61.40 scores him second award
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Kensington captain Jake Brown was awarded
his second Bradman Medal in as many years
at a ceremony in front of current Grade players
and distinguished guests at Adelaide Oval in
March.
A consistent performer and well-respected
player, Brown amassed 614 runs at an average
of 61.40 from 11 matches this season, including
eight half-centuries.

His all-rounder status shone through once again
having claimed 20 wickets during the 2014/15
season, with best figures of 4/49 coming
against East Torrens in round 9.
Recognising the cricketer who polls the highest
number of votes cast by umpires in the West
End A Grade competition, the Bradman Medal
was awarded to Brown last season; the first
time in 14 years a Kensington player had
won the award.

KAREN ROLTON MEDAL

Fast-bowler Tahlia McGrath, 19, scores
Karen Rolton Medal
After a breakout season with the bat, Southern
District opener Tahlia McGrath won her maiden
Karen Rolton Medal in 2014/15
In nine matches, McGrath compiled 594 runs at
an average of 66.00 including three centuries
and a highest score of 153. One of the SACA
Women’s A Grade competition’s fastest bowlers,
McGrath claimed 14 wickets and finished with
best figures of 5/19.
McGrath, 19, emerged as a player of the future
having finished third in the count last season.
McGrath (36 votes) was a clear winner ahead
of Northern District’s Hannah Perry (27 votes)
and Kensington’s Bridget Patterson (23 votes).

WEST END A-GRADE FINAL
Tea Tree Gully Bulls beat minor
premiers Woodville

The Tea Tree Gully Bulls added the two-day
premiership to their impressive collection of
short-form trophies, defeating minor premiers
Woodville at Woodville Oval in the West End A
Grade Final.
Chasing 274 for victory, Tea Tree Gully passed
the total seven wickets down with a Brad
Evans boundary sealing the victory. Conor
McInerney and Tom Andrews were the best
with the bat for Woodville, scoring 69 and 67
not out respectively. Woodville looked poised
for a larger total at 5/231, but lost 5/43 with Tea
Tree Gully’s Adam Somerfield (4/80 off 24 overs)
instrumental in restricting the Woodville total.
In reply, Tim Evans put in a Player of the Match
performance, scoring 95 runs from 222 balls
to secure the David Hookes Medal and was
well supported by Tim Davey (55) and captain
Matthew Weaver (26). Ben Turley toiled hard for
Woodville picking up 4/81 off 27 overs.

WEST END ONE-DAY
CUP FINAL

Lehmann’s half-century helps East
Torrens win
An unbeaten half-century from Jake Lehmann
helped secure East Torrens’ first A Grade
silverware since 1990/91 with a four-wicket win
in the West End One-Day Cup Final against Sturt
at Campbelltown Oval.
An opening partnership of 78 between Jake
Weatherald and Cameron Borgas got Sturt
off to a strong start before Weatherald was
dismissed for 51, bringing West End Redbacks’

Above: East Torrens celebrate winning the West End One-Day Cup final.

rookie Alex Gregory to the crease. After losing
Borgas for 44, Gregory went on to top score for
Sturt with 91 from 96 balls, leading Sturt to a
defendable total of 8/240. Luke Robins was the
pick of the East Torrens bowlers taking 4/59 from
his allotted 10.
In reply, Ian Cockbain was solid with 66 at the
top of the order, while contributions from the
East Torrens middle order, highlighted by 78
not out from Jake Lehmann; put East Torrens in
sight of victory. Luke Robins played an important
cameo role with 27 from just eight balls to
relieve any run rate pressure.
Robins was awarded the Rob Zadow Medal for
the Player of the Match after taking four wickets,
including the prized scalp of Cameron Borgas
as well as his important lower order effort
with the bat.

WEST END TWENTY20 CUP

Seahorses prevail over Bulls, scoring
maiden title
A Joel Garrett half-century helped the Glenelg
Seahorses secure their first ever West End
Twenty20 Cup title against the Tea Tree Gully
Bulls at Adelaide Oval.
Set 184 runs for victory thanks largely to a 97-run
opening stand between Garrett (59) and Ben
Bullimore (44), the Bulls were in trouble early
losing opener Tim Evans for just one. Adelaide
Striker Travis Head looked good for his 37 and
alongside Sam Wood (33) and Isaiah Borgas
(40), dragged his side back into the contest.
Two spectacular catches to Cullen Bailey
combined with tight bowling from Jack Pudney
(2/42), Johan Botha (1/19) and Chadd Sayers
(1/4), restricted the Bulls to 9/169, handing the
Seahorses their maiden T20 title.

WOMEN’S A-GRADE

Jets snare premiership glory
In the Women’s A Grade, Kensington and
Northern Districts battled it out in a replay of
last’s year final at Park 25.

Chasing 211 to make it back-to-back titles,
openers Bridget Patterson (35) and Eliza
Doddridge (21) got Kensington off to a solid
start, putting on 39 runs for the first wicket.
Quick wickets saw the Browns in trouble, but
a steady innings from Katelyn Pope (38) gave
Kensington a glimmer of hope.
Monique Draycott (26) worked hard for the
Browns but it wasn’t enough as Stephanie
Morrison (3/37), Neisha Illes (2/22) and Emma
Sampson (1/23) made scoring incredibly
difficult; the Browns were dismissed for 164, 46
runs short of their target.
Having won the toss and elected to bat
earlier in the day, the Northern Jets got off to
a dream start with openers Emma Sampson
(58) and Brittany Perry (40) putting on a 92-run
partnership.
Chloe Scheer (37) continued the dominance of
the Northern Districts’ top order batting line-up
and was well accompanied by some big hitting
from Neisha Illes (28).
Sarah Lowe (1/47) worked tirelessly all day as
did Amy Wiseman (1/43), Draycott (1/29) and
Patterson (1/23) with Northern Districts posting
6/210 from their 50 overs.

WOMEN’S A-GRADE T20 FINAL
Kensington claims maiden
women’s title

Spectators saw another record-breaking
moment in the Women’s A Grade T20 Final as
Kensington defeated West Torrens and claimed
their first Women’s A-Grade Twenty20 win.
An outstanding bowling performance from
Kensington quick Sarah Jameson (2/14 from
four overs) restricted West Torrens to a below-par
6/93 from their 20 overs, with Taite Mackrill top
scoring for the Eagles (33 not out from 35 balls).
In reply, Kensington openers Eliza Doddridge
and Jordan Doecke amassed a run-a-ball
opening stand to guide their side to victory with
six overs to spare. Doddridge finished 46 not out,
while Doecke was also unbeaten on 41.

WEST END A GRADE
GRAND FINAL
Woodville Oval, 28 March and 29 March 2015

WOODVILLE vs TEA TREE GULLY
DAVID HOOKES MEDALLIST:
TIM EVANS (TEA TREE GULLY)
UMPIRES: CRAIG THOMAS
AND LUKE UTHENWOLDT

TOSS: WOODVILLE

WOODVILLE
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

CJ McInerney

lbw AJ Somerfield

69

116

JN Birchmore

lbw T Evans

34

79

*SM Coles

lbw MK Weaver

41

83

+ HJ Nielsen

b BD Evans

15

19

not out

67

108

b AJ Somerfield

10

40

M Fregona

b N Winter

3

5

TL Doimo

b AJ Somerfield

8

31

b AJ Somerfield

8

13

L Francesca

lbw N Winter

4

8

CM Tietjens

lbw N Winter

0

5

T Andrews
AJ Bleakley

RESULT: TEA TREE GULLY
WON BY 3 WICKETS

c TJ Davey

BJ Turley

c SA Stolcman

H Thoman
8NB, 0W, 1B, 6LB
SUNDRIES
10
wickets for
274 (83 Overs)
TOTAL
79, 127, 153, 189, 231, 234, 249, 263, 274, 274
F/W
BOWLING N Winter 20-5-68-3; BD Evans 11-5-33-1; MK Weaver; 15-2-47-1; AJ Somerfield 24-4-80-4;
TM Head 5-0-17-0; TJ Evans 6-4-22-1

TEA TREE GULLY
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

b CM Tietjens

12

37

TJ Evans

c & b CM Tietjens

95

222

M Cuconits

b BJ Turley

29

90

TM Head

b T Andrews

13

10

+TJ Davey

b BJ Turley

55

67

JS Holliday
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c HJ Nielsen

*MK Weaver

c T Andrews

b BJ Turley

26

I Borgas

c SM Coles

b BJ Turley

10

SA Stolcman

not out

0

BD Evans

not out

4

AJ Somerfield

dnb

N Winter

dnb

BJ Hutchinson

dnb

J Macey

dnb

16

14NB, 0W, 8B, 11LB
SUNDRIES
7 wickets for
277 (83 Overs)
TOTAL
41, 132, 147, 209, 244, 268, 273
F/W
BOWLING BJ Turley 27-3-81-4; L Francesca 17-3-71-0; T Andrews 24-7-67-1; CM Tietjens 15-1-39-2

Right: Tea Tree Gully coach, Peter Sleep with captain, Matthew Weaver.

WEST END ONE DAY
CUP GRAND FINAL
Campbelltown Oval, Sunday 22 February 2015

STURT vs EAST TORRENS
ROB ZADOW MEDALLIST:
LJ ROBINS (EAST TORRENS)
UMPIRES: LYNTON DONISTHORPE
AND BRUCE STRIBLEY

TOSS: STURT

RESULT: EAST TORRENS WON
BY 4 WICKETS

STURT
1ST INNINGS
J Weatherald

c S Taylor

CJ Borgas

RUNS

BALLS

b JM Miller

51

49

b LJ Robins

44

102

AJ Gregory

c MR Cranmer

b J Lehmann

91

96

*+BR Davis

c MT Eichler

b A Zampa

3

12

S Roberts

b LJ Robins

23

21

MG Schlicker

lbw LJ Robins

2

7

JG Latchford

b LJ Robins

7

4

Z Kulesza

not out

7

5

JR Machin

b CJ Richardson

2

3

M Parker

not out

1

1

SJ Claring-Bould

dnb

C Parker

dnb

0NB, 8W, 0B, 1 LB
SUNDRIES
8
wickets
240 (50 Overs)
TOTAL
78, 151, 167, 221, 221, 228, 231, 238
F/W
BOWLING D Leigh 5-1-22-0; CJ Richardson 9-0-46-1; LJ Robins 10-0-59-4; JM Miller 10-0-37-1,
A Zampa 10-1-43-1, MR Cranmer 5-0-25-0, J Lehmann 1-0-7-1

EAST TORRENS
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

IA Cockbain

c S Roberts

b SJ Claring- Bould

66

110

*MR Cranmer

c JG Latchford

b S Roberts

31

48

J Lehmann

not out

78

81

BL Dougall

b JR Machin

14

16

b S Roberts

15

17

b Z Kulesza

27

8

b S Roberts

5

5

JM Miller

not out

2

4

D Leigh

dnb

+MT Eichler

dnb

S Taylor

c BR Davis

LJ Robins
A Zampa

c MG Schlicker

CJ Richardson
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54

dnb

SUNDRIES
6 wickets
241 (48.2 Overs)
TOTAL
59, 141, 162, 187, 224, 235
F/W
BOWLING SJ Claring- Bould 9.2-1-34-1; M Parker 9-1-48-0, JR Machin 10- 0-44-1;
0NB, 2W, 1B, 0LB

S Roberts 10-0-49-3, Z Kulesza 8-0-52-1, CJ Borgas 2-0-13-0

WEST END TWENTY20
CUP GRAND FINAL
Adelaide Oval, Monday 26 January 2015

GLENELG vs TEA TREE GULLY
UMPIRES: CORY BLACK AND
MICHIAL FARROW

TOSS: GLENELG

RESULT: GLENELG WON BY
15 RUNS

GLENELG
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

J Garrett

c TJ Evans

b T Cronin

59

39

BJ Bullimore

c I Borgas

b BD Evans

44

30

J Botha

st TJ Davey

b T Cronin

26

19

CB Bailey

not out

26

18

*MP Nobes

b TJ Evans

11

11

D Irvine

not out

3

3

CJ Sayers

dnb

CM Dand

dnb

+J Roach

dnb

SA Fielding

dnb

JG Pudney

dnb

SB Rice

dnb

N Fox

dnb

0NB, 10W, 0B, 4LB
SUNDRIES
4 wickets for
183 (20 Overs)
TOTAL
97, 127, 143, 174
F/W:
BOWLING SS Nottle 2-0-13-0; TJ Evans 3-0-31-1; T Cronin 4-0-35-2; AJ Somerfield 4-0-28-0,
TM Head 1-0-14-0; MK Weaver 1-0-12-0, BD Evans 4-0-35-1, SK Wood 1-0-11-0

TEA TREE GULLY
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

run out (CJ Sayers)

1

2

b JG Pudney

12

11

TM Head

c & b CB Bailey

37

23

+TJ Davey

run out (BJ Bullimore)

10

12

TJ Evans
*MK Weaver

c BJ Bullimore

T Cronin

c J Roach

b SA Fielding

0

1

SK Wood

c CB Bailey

b CJ Sayers

33

22

I Borgas

run out (JG Pudney)

40

29

AJ Somerfield

lbw J Botha

9

6

BD Evans

b JG Pudney

10

7

BJ Hutchinson

not out

9

4

SS Nottle

not out

1

3

M Cuconits

dnb

JW Chapman

dnb

CL Polyak

dnb

0NB, 3W, 0B, 4LB
SUNDRIES
9
wickets for
169 (20 Overs)
TOTAL
3, 27, 60, 63, 129, 144, 155, 156, 160
F/W
BOWLING CM Dand 4-0-39-0; JG Pudney 4-0-42-2; J Botha 4-0-19-1, CB Bailey 3-0-30-1;
SA Fielding 4-0-31-1; CJ Sayers 1-0-4-1

WOMEN’S A GRADE
GRAND FINAL
Park 25 No 1, Saturday 28 March 2015

NORTHERN DISTRICTS vs KENSINGTON
PLAYER OF THE MATCH: EMMA
SAMPSON (NTHN DISTRICTS)
UMPIRES: BILL MARSHALL AND
KUMAR CHANDRAKUMAR

TOSS: NORTHERN DISTRICTS

RESULT: NORTHERN DISTRICTS
WON BY 47 RUNS

NORTHERN DISTRICTS
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

E Sampson

c K Pope

b AT Wiseman

58

120

+BA Perry

c E Jones

b M Draycott

40

75

C Scheer

b BE Patterson

37

53

H Perry

run out (SJ Lowe)

5

5

*N Iles

run out (BE Patterson)

28

AR Knight

b SJ Lowe

8

10

NL Mentha

not out

2

2

SC Morrison

dnb

S Bray

dnb

K Stockley

dnb

KL Rowe

dnb

TJ McPharlin

dnb

21

1NB, 27W, 0B, 4LB
SUNDRIES
6
wickets for
210 (50 Overs)
TOTAL
92, 164, 170, 174, 196, 210
F/W
BOWLING SJ Lowe 9-1-47-1; SM Daly 10-3-24-0; K Pope 6-0-27-0; AT Wiseman 9-0-43-1;
M Draycott 10-1-29-1; E Jones 2-0-13-0; BE Patterson 4-1-23-1

KENSINGTON
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

BE Patterson

b E Sampson

35

63

E Doddridge

run out

21

50

*SJ Lowe

lbw N Iles

4

25

K Pope

b SC Morrison

38

55

+J Doecke

c & b H Perry

13

31

b N Iles

26

37

run out (H Perry)

8

10

b SC Morrison

0

1

b SC Morrison

3

4

H Armstrong

run out (E Sampson)

2

4

E Jones

not out

1

1

E Armstrong

dnb

M Draycott

c C Scheer

AT Wiseman
SM Daly
K Armstrong
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c K Stockley

0NB, 12W, 0B, 1LB
SUNDRIES
10 wickets for
164 (46.5 Overs)
TOTAL
39, 59, 68, 99, 145, 156, 157, 157, 162, 164
F/W:
BOWLING SC Morrison 9.5-0-37-3; K Stockley 7-0-13-0; E Sampson 10-0-23-1; N Iles 6-1-22-2,
H Perry 10-1-40-1; AR Knight 4-0-28-0

WOMEN’S A GRADE
TWENTY20 GRAND FINAL
Adelaide Oval, Monday 26 January 2015

WEST TORRENS vs KENSINGTON
UMPIRES: TONY TRIST AND
JEFF KING

WEST TORRENS
1ST INNINGS
B Cheetham

TOSS: WEST TORRENS

B Harris
LJ Williams

RESULT: KENSINGTON WON
BY 8 WICKETS

c E Doddridge
st J Doecke

T Mackrill
C Ward

RUNS

BALLS

b S Jameson

5

8

run out (M Draycott)

18

28

b M Draycott

6

10

not out

33

35

run out (WA Duraisingam)

18

30

A Eyles

c J Hill

b S Jameson

1

4

*TJ Gordon

c S Jameson

b WA Duraisingam

1

3

EM Falconer

not out

1

2

J Joseph

dnb

SUNDRIES
TOTAL

3NB, 6W, 0B, 1LB
6 wickets for

93 (20 Overs)

N/A

F/W
BOWLING S Jameson 4-1-14-2; SM Daly 4-0-25-0; SJ Lowe 4-1-10-0; M Draycott 4-0-16-1;
J Hill 3-0-24-0; WA Duraisingam 1-0-3-1

KENSINGTON
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

E Doddridge

not out

46

43

+J Doecke

not out

41

41

SJ Lowe

dnb

WA Duraisingam

dnb

S Jameson

dnb

M Draycott

dnb

J Hill

dnb

AT Wiseman

dnb

SM Daly

dnb

V Neale

dnb

0NB, 9W, 0B, 0LB
SUNDRIES
0 wickets for
96 (14 overs)
TOTAL
N/A
F/W
BOWLING LJ Williams 3-0-23-0; A Eyles 3-0-19-0; TJ Gordon 2-0-10-0; J Joseph 3-0-23-0;
EM Falconer 3-0-21-0

SENIOR GRADE
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
CLUB CHAMPIONSHIP
POS

CLUB

TOTAL POINTS

1

Tea Tree Gully

557.50

2

East Torrens

542.50

3

Kensington

532.50

4

West Torrens

525.00

5

Adelaide University

520.00

6

Woodville

480.00

7

Sturt

452.50

8

Adelaide

420.00

9

Glenelg

405.00

10

Prospect

375.00

11

Port Adelaide

357.50

12

Northern Districts

245.00

13

Southern District

237.50

WEST END PREMIERSHIP TABLE – A GRADE
POS

CLUB

MATCHES
PLAYED

BYE

OR WIN
1ST INN WIN
= W2

1ST INN
WIN
= W1

MATCH
DRAWN OR
ABNDN.

1ST INN
LOSS
=L1

OR LOSS
1ST INN
LOSS = L2

TOTAL
POINTS

%

1

Woodville

12

1

1

6

2

2

1

165

1.3764

2

Tea Tree Gully

12

1

0

7

2

3

0

160

1.0612

3

Kensington

12

1

1

5

2

3

1

150

1.1567

4

West Torrens

12

1

1

6

0

5

0

150

1.0086

5

Adelaide

12

1

0

7

0

4

1

140

0.9685

6

Sturt

12

1

1

3

5

3

0

130

1.207

7

East Torrens

12

1

1

4

2

5

0

130

1.0773

8

Southern District

12

1

0

5

2

5

0

115

0.9446

9

Adelaide University

12

1

0

4

2

6

0

100

0.8583

10

Glenelg

12

1

0

4

2

5

1

95

0.9285

11

Port Adelaide

12

1

0

4

1

7

0

90

0.9488

12

Northern Districts

12

1

0

4

1

7

0

90

0.7836

13

Prospect

12

1

0

2

3

6

1

65

0.6171
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WEST END ONE DAY CUP
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

East Torrens

3

60

%
1.9592

2

Woodville

3

40

0.712

3

Tea Tree Gully

3

40

0.38

4

Adelaide

3

40

0.1429

5

Adelaide University

3

40

0.1428

6

West Torrens

3

40

0.0903

7

Sturt

3

30

0.3467

8

Kensington

3

20

0.436

9

Glenelg

3

20

-0.53

10

Northern Districts

3

20

-0.632

11

Port Adelaide

3

20

-0.644

12

Prospect

3

20

-0.8598

13

SACA U19

3

20

-1.332

14

Southern District

3

10

-0.2103

%

WEST END TWENTY20 CUP
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Glenelg

3

45

2.7579

2

Woodville

3

45

1.2313

3

Tea Tree Gully

3

45

1.1464

4

East Torrens

3

30

0.3331

5

West Torrens

3

22.5

-0.38

6

Northern Districts

3

22.5

-0.425

7

Southern District

3

22.5

-0.6425

8

Sturt

3

15

0.5547

9

Adelaide University

3

15

0.0333

10

Prospect

3

15

-0.2548

11

Port Adelaide

3

15

-1.25

12

SACA U19

3

7.5

-0.9167

13

Adelaide

3

7.5

-1.6833

14

Kensington

3

7.5

-1.8189

SENIOR GRADE
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
WEST END PREMIERSHIP TABLE – B GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

West Torrens

12

190

%
1.443

2

Glenelg

12

175

1.2473

3

East Torrens

12

165

1.2583

4

Kensington

12

165

1.0311

5

Adelaide University

12

135

0.7438

6

Port Adelaide

12

130

0.995

7

Tea Tree Gully

12

130

0.7092

8

Woodville

12

120

1.047

9

Prospect

12

120

0.9177

10

Sturt

12

120

0.897

11

Northern Districts

12

80

0.6749

12

Adelaide

12

60

0.7461

13

Southern District

12

40

0.7082

%

WEST END PREMIERSHIP TABLE – C GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Prospect

12

137.5

1.3264

2

Kensington

12

135

1.3785

3

Tea Tree Gully

12

130

1.4405

4

East Torrens

12

127.5

1.341

5

Adelaide University

12

122.5

1.6248

6

Sturt

12

112.5

1.4195

7

Adelaide

12

90

1.0988

8

Port Adelaide

12

67.5

0.8269

9

Southern District

12

67.5

0.7083

10

Woodville

12

67.5

0.6826

11

Glenelg

12

60

0.7983

12

West Torrens

12

52.5

0.7274

13

Northern Districts

12

30

0.5411
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WEST END PREMIERSHIP TABLE - D GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Adelaide University

12

162.5

%
2.0674

2

Tea Tree Gully

12

137.5

1.6962

3

West Torrens

12

132.5

1.5198

4

Adelaide

12

130

1.3549

5

Woodville

12

127.5

1.8865

6

East Torrens

12

120

1.7114

7

Sturt

12

90

1.0844

8

Kensington

12

82.5

0.9953

9

Glenelg

12

75

0.7578

10

Port Adelaide

12

70

0.4849

11

Prospect

12

52.5

0.6626

12

Northern Districts

12

45

0.1168

13

Southern District

12

15

0.398

GRAND FINAL RESULTS – OTHER GRADES
West End B Grade

Glenelg 209 defeated Kensington 153

West End C Grade

Kensington 120 & 6/99 (dec) defeated by East Torrens 178 & 1/42

West End D Grade

Tea Tree Gully 84 defeated by Adelaide University 6/127

Women’s B Grade

Kensington Brown 91 defeated by Adelaide University 2/92

Women’s B Grade Twenty20

Adelaide University 4/109 defeated Prospect 6/103

Under 17 BankSA Shield

Sturt 152 defeated Country Red 88

Under 16 Red Grade

West Torrens 169 defeated by Kensington 7/170

Under 16 White Grade

Kensington 180 defeated by Tea Tree Gully 1/181

Under 14 Red Grade

Kensington 54 defeated by Sturt 5/113

Under 14 White Grade

Northern Districts 9/172 defeated by Kensington 6/174

Under 12 BankSA Statewide

Kensington 137 defeated Sturt 135

Ray Sutton Shield

Sturt 4/185 defeated Kensington 6/166

TEAMS OF
THE YEAR
GRADE TEAM OF THE YEAR
2014/2015

BANKSA UNDER 17 SHIELD
TEAM OF THE YEAR 2014/15

Sam Raphael (C)

Adelaide

Blake Gutsche

Country Red

Tim Evans

Tea Tree Gully

Thomas Doimo

Woodville

Kelvin Smith

West Torrens

Angus Brooks

Adelaide

Mark Cosgrove

Northern Districts

Tyson Bray

Northern Districts

Jake Brown

Kensington

Nidal Sultan

West Torrens

Michael Cranmer

East Torrens

Sean McCullum

Country Black

Harry Byrnes Howe (WK)

Prospect

William Kirby Bastians

Prospect

Cameron Valente

Adelaide

Riley Robinson

Country Red

Elliot Opie

Kensington

Isaac Johnson

West Torrens

Nick Benton

Port Adelaide

Harvey Box

Kensington

Joel Logan

Adelaide University

Lachlan Roberts

Kensington

Ben Turley

Woodville

Jimmy Kain

SACA U15/Adelaide

Brad Inglis (Coach)

Country Black

Coach of the Year
Sam McNally
Grade Cricket Umpire of the Year
Luke Uthenwoldt
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Woodville

SENIOR TROPHY WINNERS AT A GLANCE
WEST END A GRADE
BRADMAN MEDAL – GRADE CRICKETER OF THE YEAR

Jake Brown

Kensington

LMS HARGRAVE TROPHY – MOST OUTSTANDING A GRADE
PLAYER UNDER 23 YEARS OF AGE

Kelvin Smith

West Torrens

CRAIGIE MEMORIAL TROPHY – BATTING AVERAGE

Mark Cosgrove

Northern Districts – 428 @ 71.33

CRAIGIE MEMORIAL TROPHY – BOWLING AVERAGE

Ben Turley

Woodville – 31 wickets @ 14

WEST END TROPHY – BATTING AGGREGATE

Sam Raphael

Adelaide – 738 runs @ 52.71

WEST END TROPHY – BOWLING AGGREGATE

Cameron Valente

Adelaide – 34 wickets @ 20.82

TALBOT SMITH FIELDING TROPHY

James Miller

East Torrens

C. W. WALKER WICKET KEEPING TROPHY

Josh Barrett

Southern District

FRED GODSON MEDAL – WEST END ONE DAY
CUP PLAYER OF THE YEAR

Ian Cockbain
and Ross Whiteley

East Torrens
Prospect

JASON GILLESPIE MEDAL – GRADE CRICKET
RISING STAR OF THE YEAR

Ben Turley

Woodville

GRADE CRICKET VOLUNTEER OF THE YEAR

Leslie Quaini

Woodville

DARREN LEHMANN MEDAL – T20

Luke Francesca
Matthew Nobes

Woodville
Glenelg

K C BUTLER MEDAL – B GRADE CRICKETER OF THE YEAR

Andrew Staunton
and Matthew Ferraro

Port Adelaide
West Torrens

BATTING TROPHY

Sam McNeil

Kensington – 564 runs @ 80.57

BOWLING TROPHY

Thomas Clark
and Sumeet Jarwal

Woodville – 36 wickets @ 13
Adelaide University – 36 wickets @ 11.89

Benno Schlicker
and Christopher Moran

Sturt
East Torrens

BATTING TROPHY

John Robins

East Torrens – 304 runs @ 30.40

BOWLING TROPHY

Luke Fitzner
and Liam Laverty
and Tom Mather

East Torrens – 24 wickets @ 8.17
Prospect – 24 wickets @ 10.29
Adelaide – 24 wickets @ 12.33

MCLEOD/WILSON MEDAL – D GRADE CRICKETER
OF THE YEAR

Graeme Yates

East Torrens

BATTING TROPHY

Graeme Yates

East Torrens – 468 runs @ 117

BOWLING TROPHY

Ali Bahzad

Sturt – 34 wickets @ 7.09

WEST END B GRADE

WEST END C GRADE
SID DALY MEDAL – C GRADE CRICKETER OF THE YEAR

WEST END D GRADE

SENIOR GRADE CLUB AWARDS
BRADMAN MEDAL TEAM AWARD - Highest
Aggregate Bradman Medal Points

Woodville

SCRYMGOUR TROPHY – Club Championship

Tea Tree Gully

SPIRIT OF CRICKET AWARD – Senior Grades

Sturt District

BANKSA SHIELD – UNDER 17
BATTING TROPHY

Blake Gutsche

Country Red – 223 runs @ 55.75

BOWLING TROPHY

William Kirby Bastians

Prospect – 11 wickets @ 8.55

C. W. WALKER WICKET KEEPING TROPHY

Sean McCullum

Country Black

WOMEN’S
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
WOMEN’S A GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Kensington

10

126.39

2

Northern Districts

10

124.3

3

West Torrens

10

108.83

4

Port Adelaide

10

95.11

5

Southern District

10

82.8

6

Sturt

10

80.9

WOMEN’S A GRADE – TWENTY20
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

West Torrens

10

105

%
1.7983

2

Kensington

10

105

1.7197

3

Sturt

10

75

-0.0246

4

Port Adelaide

10

60

-0.6822

5

Northern Districts

10

60

-0.8045

6

Southern District

10

45

-2.3511

WOMEN’S B GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Northern Districts Orange

9

151.05

2

West Torrens

9

127.82

3

Adelaide University

9

127.64

4

Kensington Brown

9

107.11

5

Sturt

9

75.03

6

Kensington Gold

9

73.37

7

Prospect

9

60.93

8

Northern Districts Blue

9

53.86

9

Port Adelaide

9

47.59

10

Southern District

9

44.19
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WOMEN’S B GRADE – TWENTY20
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Prospect

8

97.5

%
1.9938

2

Adelaide University

8

97.5

1.3991

3

Northern Districts Orange

8

90

1.8126

4

Sturt

8

75

0.2799

5

West Torrens

8

60

0.3392

6

Kensington Brown

8

60

-0.4667

7

Northern Districts Blue

8

45

-0.7181

8

Kensington Gold

8

30

-0.3069

9

Southern District

8

30

-1.591

10

Port Adelaide

8

15

-2.625

WOMEN’S TROPHY WINNERS AT A GLANCE
WOMEN’S A GRADE
KAREN ROLTON MEDAL – WOMEN’S A GRADE
PLAYER OF THE YEAR

Tahlia McGrath

Southern District

BATTING TROPHY – AGGREGATE

Tahlia McGrath

Southern District – 594 runs @ 66

BATTING TROPHY – AVERAGE

Lauren Ebsary

West Torrens – 417 runs @ 104.25

BOWLING TROPHY – AGGREGATE

Hannah Perry

Northern Districts – 19 wickets @ 12.47

BOWLING TROPHY – AVERAGE

Hannah Perry

Northern Districts – 19 wickets @ 12.47

FIELDING TROPHY

Tahlia McGrath

Southern District

WICKET KEEPING TROPHY

Alicia Dean

Port Adelaide

LYN FULLSTON MEDAL – WOMEN’S B GRADE
PLAYER OF THE YEAR

Febi Mansell

Northern Districts

BATTING TROPHY

Febi Mansell

Northern Districts – 282 runs @ 70.50

BOWLING TROPHY

Chloe Frick

Kensington – 17 wickets @ 5.53

BOWLING TROPHY

Cindi Gouveia

Adelaide University – 13 wickets @ 10.08

WOMEN’S B GRADE

WOMEN’S GRADE CLUB AWARDS
SPIRIT OF CRICKET AWARD –
WOMEN’S GRADES

West Torrens District Cricket Club

PRESIDENTS TROPHY – CLUB CHAMPIONSHIP

Northern Districts

FELLOWS AWARD – WOMEN’S CRICKET MOST
OUTSTANDING VOLUNTEER

Jane Lowe

Kensington

DOT LAUGHTON TROPHY – WOMEN’S CRICKET
JUNIOR PLAYER/VOLUNTEER AWARD

Stephanie Beazleigh

Northern Districts

POWERADE JUNIOR
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
POWERADE UNDER 16 RED GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

West Torrens

11

162.5

%
2.6503

2

Tea Tree Gully

11

115

1.2815

3

Kensington

11

105

1.5474

4

Sturt

11

100

1.0237

5

Northern Districts

11

97.5

1.4533

6

Adelaide

11

97.5

1.2636

7

Prospect

11

90

1.1806

8

East Torrens

11

67.5

0.9716

9

Glenelg

11

67.5

0.8893

10

Southern District

11

67.5

0.626

11

Port Adelaide

11

37.5

0.4007

12

Woodville

11

22.5

0.4405

TOTAL POINTS

%

POWERADE UNDER 16 WHITE GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

1

Kensington

11

107.5

1.5419

2

Tea Tree Gully

11

97.5

1.7488

3

Adelaide

11

90

1.2229

4

Prospect

11

90

1.1894

5

Sturt

11

75

1.1226

6

Southern District

11

75

0.9425

7

Northern Districts

11

75

0.9208

8

Glenelg

11

75

0.6614

9

West Torrens

11

67.5

0.9101

10

East Torrens

11

60

0.7421

11

Woodville

11

22.5

0.4147

12

Port Adelaide

11

0

0
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POWERADE UNDER 14 RED GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Kensington

11

120

%
2.3502

2

Tea Tree Gully

11

120

2.3174

3

Sturt

11

120

1.7811

4

Adelaide

11

112.5

0.9506

5

West Torrens

11

97.5

1.479

6

Northern Districts

11

97.5

1.1553

7

Prospect

11

90

1.0608

8

Glenelg

11

67.5

0.7484

9

Woodville

11

45

0.8565

10

Southern District

11

45

0.4322

11

East Torrens

11

37.5

0.5197

12

Port Adelaide

11

37.5

0.452

TOTAL POINTS

%

POWERADE UNDER 14 WHITE GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

1

Northern Districts

11

122.5

1.7036

2

Kensington

11

120

1.5338

3

Adelaide

11

120

1.3307

4

Tea Tree Gully

11

97.5

1.161

5

Sturt

11

97.5

1.0469

6

Prospect

11

90

1.4571

7

Glenelg

11

90

0.9244

8

Woodville

11

75

1.0231

9

Southern District

11

60

1.2004

10

East Torrens

11

52.5

0.4935

11

West Torrens

11

45

0.6032

12

Port Adelaide

11

30

0.2684

POWERADE TEAM
OF THE YEAR
POWERADE JUNIOR TEAM OF THE YEAR 2014/2015
Round 1

Joshua Turner

Under 16 White

Prospect

Round 2

Charlie Allan

Under 14 Red

Sturt

Round

Harry Sibley

Under 16 Red

West Torrens

Round

No nomination

Round 5

Corey Kelly

Under 14 Red

Sturt

Round 6

Nick Crouch

Under 14 Red

West Torrens

Round 7

No nomination
Under 16 Red

Sturt

Round 8

Rhys Paterson

Round 9

No nomination

Round 10

Tyson Baker

Under 16 Red

Northern Districts

Round 11

Christian Leddicoat

Under 14 White

Kensington

JUNIOR TROPHY WINNERS AT A GLANCE
UNDER 16 RED
BATTING TROPHY

Bradman Pfitzner

Tea Tree Gully – 296 runs 29.60

BOWLING TROPHY

Rhys Paterson

Sturt – 25 wickets @ 7.44

BATTING TROPHY

Lachlan Winter

East Torrens – 209 runs @ 34.83

BOWLING TROPHY

Joshua Turner

Prospect – 22 wickets @ 4.82

BATTING TROPHY

Nick Crouch

West Torrens – 425 runs @ 60.71

BOWLING TROPHY

Hamish Gitsham

Kensington – 22 wickets @ 10.09

BATTING TROPHY

Christian Leddicoat

Kensington – 362 runs @ 51.71

BOWLING TROPHY

Jack Packer

Kensington – 16 wickets @ 10.88

UNDER 16 WHITE

UNDER 14 RED

UNDER 14 WHITE

JUNIOR GRADE CLUB AWARD
SPIRIT OF CRICKET AWARD – JUNIOR GRADES

Northern Districts Cricket Club
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Right: West Torrens take on Kensington in the Women’s
Twenty20 Final at Adelaide Oval.

MEMBERSHIP

Numbers up as SACA enjoys
healthy 94% retention rate

A total of 2,045 new financial SACA Members
took up their offer of SACA Membership during
the year. SACA Membership reflected a healthy
94% retention rate.
SACA now has a total of 26,655 financial
members, with a waitlist of more than 4,000.
The transferable card uptake was 32.3%,
slightly lower than the last Australia v India Test
match season in 2011/12 when there was a
34% uptake.
ATTENDANCE STRONG AT TEST MATCH
A total of 52,645 members and 19,259
transferable card-holders attended the
Commonwealth Bank Test Series match
between Australia and India at Adelaide
Oval in December. An encouraging 73.54% of
financial members attended at least one day
of the Test match.
Member attendances at the KFC Big Bash
League matches increased significantly, with
58% of financial members attending at least
one of the Adelaide Strikers’ home matches,
up from 46% the previous year. During the
five Adelaide Strikers’ home matches, 33,108
members and 15,925 transferable cardholders
attended, up from 20,974 members and 11,387
transferable cardholders the previous year.
MEMBERS 50+ YEARS – 260 GUESTS ATTEND

MEMBERSHIP
SACA
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Members of SACA’s 50-Year Members Club
were invited to attend SACA’s annual 50-Year
Members’ Luncheon, held in the Ian McLachlan
Room at Adelaide Oval in November 2014.

More than 260 guests were entertained by MC
Wayne Phillips, SACA President, Andrew Sinclair,
and Chief Executive, Keith Bradshaw. The lunch
featured an interview with SACA General
Manager, High Performance, Tim Nielsen.
All 50-year members in attendance received
a set of Member cuff links. Six Members were
inducted into the 50-year membership club.
Three reached Honorary Tenured Membership
reflecting 65 years of continuous membership.
SACA 50-Year Members were provided with
reserved seating in the western grandstand
during the Test Match at Adelaide Oval.

MEMBERSHIP EVENTS
SUMMER OF DINING POPULAR
The Summer of Dining calendar for season
2014/15 continued to be popular amongst
SACA Members, with new offerings including
the T20 International Member Dinner, Tour
Match Dining, and Member Events in the Gil
Langley Room during the Adelaide Strikers’
home matches.
Many members enjoyed daily luncheons at the
Test match, with dining options offered in the
Ian McLachlan and Magarey rooms.
SACA’s dining offers throughout the Sheffield
Shield matches in the Phil Ridings Bar were also
well supported by members, with most days
sold out.

We would like to thank our members for their
understanding and patience during the
difficult time in November and December 2015
after the tragic passing of Phillip Hughes.
The Test Match Dinner was cancelled and
other member events were affected. We look
forward to delivering what is one of the most
popular events for members this summer
ahead of the world-first day-night Test in late
November.
SUNDAY SESSION DURING DAY/ NIGHT SHIELD
MATCH
A new Member event was introduced on a
November Sunday afternoon during the Day/
Night Shield Match at Adelaide Oval. The event
was held in the David Hookes Bar, with live
music and a large TV screen to watch the
on-field action.
EVENING WITH WASIM AKRAM – EXCLUSIVE
OPPORTUNITY
SACA Members enjoyed an exclusive intimate
evening with Wasim Akram in the Sheffield
Shield Room at Adelaide Oval, to celebrate
the arrival of the ICC Cricket World Cup 2015.
The event was hosted by Tom Rehn, and
members listened while Akram shared his
memories of his incredible career.
AFL ROOMS – HIGH DEMAND
SACA Members were again given the
opportunity to book hospitality in the SACA
Committee Room and Gil Langley Room for
all AFL games this season.
Both room offers were well received by
members, with most matches booked to
capacity. The rooms were hosted by SACA
Board members, and were offered exclusively
for SACA Members and their guests.

The hospitality packages were reviewed by the
SACA Board after the 2013 AFL season, resulting
in changes to the food and beverage offering.
HENTLEY FARM WINERY LUNCHEON
SACA Members were given the opportunity to
attend an exclusive behind-the-scenes winery
tour and luncheon at the Hentley Farm Winery
in May 2015.
This exclusive event was hosted by Hentley
Farm Owner, Keith Hentschke and Head Chef,
Lachlan Colwill. The event included a fivecourse degustation meal with matching wines.
LUNCH WITH THE SACA CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND
SACA PRESIDENT
SACA has introduced a monthly member forum
luncheon, hosted by SACA President, Andrew
Sinclair, and Chief Executive, Keith Bradshaw.
The intimate lunches are an opportunity for
Keith and Andrew to hear direct feedback
from our members, and have an informal chat
about all things cricket.
MEMBER FORUM – LEADERS SPEAK
The Member Forum evening was held in the
Ian McLachlan Room and was for SACA
Members to hear from SACA President, Andrew
Sinclair and SACA Chief Executive, Keith
Bradshaw. Each covered a range of topics, from
the 2014/15 summer of cricket through to what
to expect for the 2015/16 season and beyond.
Members were also given the opportunity to
ask questions.

MEMBERSHIP

SACA Members enjoying events including
the Commonwealth Bank Series Test Match in the
Village Green and also AFL football matches in the
SACA Committee and Gil Langley Rooms.
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SPONSORSHIP

SACA is grateful for the invaluable and
ongoing support of its 2014/15 partners

SACA SPONSORS

ADELAIDE STRIKERS

PRINCIPAL PARTNER

PRINCIPAL PARTNER

MAJOR PARTNERS

MAJOR SPONSOR

OFFICIAL PARTNERS

OFFICIAL SPONSORS

SUPPLY PARTNERS

CHARITY PARTNER

SACA BOARD OF
MANAGEMENT 2014/15
PRESIDENT/CHAIRMAN
ANDREW SINCLAIR

ROBERT HILL SMITH

SACA Board member since 2009
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Director
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Finance Committee
(Alternate)

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES

DEAN MARSH

Finance and Audit

SACA Board member since 2012
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Director (Alternate)
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Finance Committee

VICE-PRESIDENT
ANDREW SINCOCK
SACA Board member since 2000
SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Chair: Adelaide Strikers
High Performance
Naming
NATHAN ADCOCK
SACA Board member since 2014
SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
High Performance

SACA Board member since 2000
Adelaide Strikers
High Performance

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Finance and Audit
Membership
SALLY NIEHUUS
SACA Board member since 2010
SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Chair: Game Development
Grade Cricket Review
Membership
SAM PARKINSON

HON DR JOHN BANNON AO FASSA

SACA Board member since 1999

SACA Board member since 2000
Cricket Australia Director since 2008
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Director (Alternate)
Chair: SMA Museum Advisory

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES

SACA Board member since 2013

Bradman Collection Museum
Naming

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES

DR KEVIN GRIFFITHS
SACA Board member since 2005
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Director
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Finance Committee
SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Chair: Finance and Audit
ANDREW HILDITCH
SACA Board member since 2004

Chair: High Performance
ROD PHILLIPS

Chair: Grade Cricket Review
Adelaide Strikers
Grade Cricket
ANDREA SLATTERY
SACA Board member since 2010
SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Chair: Membership
Naming

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES

CHAIRMAN, GRADE CRICKET COMMITTEE
ROBERT SNEWIN

High Performance

SACA Board member since 2014
SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Chair: Grade Cricket
Cricket Executive
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From top left:
PRESIDENT AND CHAIRMAN
Andrew Sinclair
VICE-PRESIDENT
Andrew Sincock

Nathan Adcock
Hon Dr John Bannon AO FSSA
Dr Kevin Griffiths
Andrew Hilditch
Robert Hill Smith
Dean Marsh

Sally Niehuus
Sam Parkinson
Rod Phillips
Andrea Slattery
Robert Snewin

SACA OFFICE
BEARERS 2014/15
PATRON

HONORARY LIFE MEMBERS

His Excellency the Honourable Hieu Van Le AO
Governor of South Australia

Hon Dr John Bannon AO FASSA
Les Burdett OAM
Ian Chappell
Jack Clarke
Neil Dansie OAM
Sue Grose
Alan Hill
Barry Jarman OAM
Hon Ian McLachlan AO
Creagh O’Connor
Joan Ridings
Trevor Robertson
Rex Sellers OAM
Jean Starr
Daryl Wood

VICE PATRON
The Right Honorable Martin Haese
Lord Mayor of Adelaide

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
PRESIDENT AND CHAIRMAN
Andrew Sinclair
VICE-PRESIDENT
Andrew Sincock
Nathan Adcock
Hon Dr John Bannon AO FASSA
Andrew Carver (retired September 2014)
Dr Kevin Griffiths
Andrew Hilditch
Robert Hill Smith
Dean Marsh
Sally Niehuus
Sam Parkinson
Rod Phillips
Andrea Slattery
Robert Snewin

STATE SELECTION PANEL
Darren Berry (until 23 March 2015)
Jamie Siddons (from 1 June 2015)
Tim Nielsen
Shaun Williams

SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM
At 30 June 2015

OFFICE
BEARERS
SACA
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R E P O R T
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Keith Bradshaw (Chief Executive)
Shane Bernhardt (Manager, Cricket Operations)
Craig Brooks (Manager, Human Resources)
Bronwyn Klei (General Manager, Commercial
and Strikers)
Michael McDonough (Manager, Capital Works)
Tim Nielsen (General Manager, High
Performance)
Rebekah Rosser (Manager, Corporate Affairs
and Strategy)
Andrew Sweet (Manager, Finance)
Grant Warland (General Manager, Marketing,
Communications and Membership)

GRADE CRICKET COMMITTEE
Robert Snewin (Glenelg) – Chairman
Paul Charman (Southern District) – Deputy
Chairman
Neil Ricketts (Adelaide)
Adam Kimber (Adelaide University)
Craig Bradbrook (East Torrens)
Anthony Rice (Kensington)
Trevor Jarman (Northern Districts)
Maurie Vast (Port Adelaide)
Dave Callan (Prospect)
Robert Young (Sturt)
Bruce Jamieson/Ian Graham (Tea Tree Gully)
Greg Stanford (West Torrens)
Geoff Turley (Woodville)
Lynton Donisthorpe (SACUSA)
Rod Phillips (SACA Board of Management)

OBITUARIES
PHILLIP HUGHES
30 November 1988 – 27 November 2014
Australian and South Australian cricketer

Bowling made easier...

...fundraising made easier.

GOOD

FOR

CRICKET

THANKS FOR HELPING US RAISE A BIG TOTAL!
The Toyota Good for Cricket Raffle had another fantastic season in 2014/15,
helping make fundraising easier for grassroots clubs across Australia. In South
Australia alone, 48 clubs participated and raised a massive total of $66,210.
Brilliant! Since launching in 2012, the raffle has now racked up $697,155 for
clubs around the country*. That’s a big score.
Toyota and Cricket Australia would like
to thank every club who got involved,
every proud member who sold tickets, and
of course, every lover of the game who
bought a ticket and helped us protect
the future of grassroots sport.
Cricket... Oh what a feeling!

For the full list of winners see
toyota.com.au/cricketraffle
*excluding NT

toyota.com.au
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT'S REPORT
The Board of Management present their report together with the financial report of the South Australian
Cricket Association Inc, (the Association) for the year ended 30 June 2015 and auditor's report thereon. This
financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Associations
Incorporation Act (SA) 1985.
The Names of Members of the Board of Management
The names of members of the Board of Management in office at any time during or since the end of the
year are:
A. Sinclair

President

A.T. Sincock

Vice President

A. Carver

Retired on 17 September 2014

R. Snewin

Appointed on 17 September 2014

Dr K. R. Griffiths
S. Niehuus
A.M.J. Hilditch
Hon Dr J.C. Bannon - A.O.
S.D.H. Parkinson
R.W. Hill-Smith
A. Slattery
D. L. Marsh
R. Phillips
N. Adcock
The Board of Management have been in office since the start of the year to the date of this report unless
otherwise stated.
Results
The surplus of the Association for the year amounted to $4,346,611 (2014: $3,161,027).
Review of operations
The Association continued to engage in its principal activity, the results of which are disclosed in the
attached financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT'S REPORT
Significant changes in state of affairs
There were no significant changes in the Association's state of affairs that occurred during the financial
year, other than that mentioned below and those referred to elsewhere in this report.
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Association during the financial year, were as follows:
Due to the changed nature of venue management responsibilities at Adelaide Oval, agreement had been
reached between Cricket Australia (CA) and the Association that the Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd (SMA) should
also be a party to the agreement regarding the staging of international matches and domestic finals
matches played under the sole control and auspices of CA in the State of South Australia. Accordingly, an
agreement has been entered into between CA, SMA and the Association, consistent with the rights and
obligations agreed with operators of all other venues in Australia that stage international cricket.
The guaranteed payment the Association receives from CA was not affected as a result of the
aforementioned change.
Principal activities
The principal activity of the Association during the year was to deliver the sustainable growth and
development of all levels of cricket in South Australia and remain committed to the delivery of the highest
standard of sport, entertainment and events to our customers.
After balance date events
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or
may significantly affect the operations of the Association, the results of those operations, or the state of
affairs of the Association in future financial years.

Signed on behalf of the members of the Board of Management.

Board Member:
Board Member:
Dr K. R. Griffiths

Board Member:
Board Member:
D. L. Marsh

Dated this

day of

2015
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AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
TO THE MEMBERS OF SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
In relation to the independent audit for the year ended 30 June 2015, to the best of my
knowledge and belief there have been no contraventions of any applicable code of professional
conduct.

A P FAULKNER

PITCHER PARTNERS

Principal

Adelaide

Date: 11 August 2015
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

Revenue and other income
Revenue
Other revenue and income
Less: expenses
Cricket expenses
Event expenses
SMA related costs
Grounds and Maintenance expenses
Cost of catering sales
Employee benefits expense
Administration expenses
Depreciation expense
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of assets
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment
Relocation costs due to development
Advertising expense
Finance costs
Share of net profits (net of impairment) of joint ventures accounted
for using the equity method
Other expenses

2015
$'000

4
4

5
14
13

5

2014
$'000

37,948
2,037
39,985

41,982
1,933
43,915

(4,743)
(9,209)
(3,729)
(533)
(12,043)
(2,913)
(129)
(761)
(15)
(777)
(123)

(4,039)
(8,811)
(1,252)
(1,853)
(4,094)
(11,329)
(4,269)
(372)
(253)
(171)
(1,493)
(824)
(788)
(111)

(664)
(35,639)

688
(1,782)
(40,753)

4,346

3,162

-

-

4,346

3,162

Current year surplus
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2015
Note

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other financial assets

2015
$'000

7
8
9
10

2014
$'000

1,677
1,813
163
19,659

1,335
3,768
12,403

23,312

17,506

58,086
1,960

58,847
1,561

Total non-current assets

60,046

60,408

Total assets

83,358

77,914

3,938
4
777

2,945
3
732

4,719

3,680

15
191

22
125

206

147

4,925

3,827

78,433

74,087

15,319
3,740
59,374

8,663
3,740
61,684

78,433

74,087

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Interest in joint venture
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions

11
13
14

15
21
16

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions

21
16

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Members funds
Board designated future fund reserve
Board designated facility improvement fund reserve
Accumulated surplus

17
18
19

Total members funds

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Board
Designated
Facility
Improvement
Fund Reserve
$'000

Accumulated
Surplus
$'000

7,228

2,000

61,697

70,925

Surplus for the year attributable to
members of the entity-Restated

-

-

3,162

3,162

Total comprehensive income attributable
to members of the entity

-

-

3,162

3,162

Transfer to reserves
Transfer from surplus
Transfer from surplus

1,435
-

1,740

(3,175)
-

(3,175)
1,435
1,740

Balance as at 30 June 2014

8,663

3,740

61,684

74,087

Board
Designated
Future Fund
Reserve
$'000
Balance as at 1 July 2013

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Total
Member's
Fund
$'000

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Board
Designated
Facility
Improvement
Fund Reserve
$'000

Accumulated
Surplus
$'000

8,663

3,740

61,684

74,087

Surplus for the year attributable to
members of the entity

-

-

4,346

4,346

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

4,346

4,346

Transfers to reserves
Transfer from surplus to Board
Designated Future Fund Reserve

-

-

(6,656)

(6,656)

6,656

-

-

6,656

15,319

3,740

59,374

78,433

Board
Designated
Future Fund
Reserve
$'000
Balance as at 1 July 2014

Balance as at 30 June 2015

Total
Member's
Fund
$'000

The Board of Management approved the transfer of surplus to set up two reserves as follows:
Board Designated Facility Improvement Fund Reserve - The general purpose of the fund is to help ensure the
long-term financial sustainability of the organisation's strategic investment into promoting and developing
cricket in South Australia.
Board Designated Future Fund Reserve - The general purpose of the fund is to help ensure the long-term
financial stability of the organisation and position it to respond to varying economic conditions and changes
affecting the organisation's financial position and the ability of the organisation to continuously carry out its
mission.
The sum of these reserves is supported by the Financial Assets summarised in Note 10.
The use and management of these funds are governed by the policy statements approved by the Board of
Management.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash received from members, events and grants
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Other revenue
Interest paid

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

40,164
(33,952)
350
927
(123)

44,296
(43,521)
397
1,367
(111)

7,366

2,428

Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payment for property, plant and equipment
Payment for investments
Net movement in term deposits

(528)
(1,496)
(5,000)

66
(645)
(3,000)
550

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities

(7,024)

(3,029)

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at beginning of the financial year
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

1,335
342

1,936
(601)

Cash at end of financial year

1,677

1,335

Net cash provided by operating activities

20(a)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other applicable authoritative pronouncements of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board.
The financial report was approved by the Board of Management as at the date of the Board of
Managements' report.
South Australian Cricket Association Inc is a not-for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial
statements.
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Association in the
preparation and presentation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently
applied, unless otherwise stated.
(a) Basis of preparation of the financial report
Historical cost convention
The financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by revaluations to
fair value for certain classes of assets as described in the accounting policies.
(b) Rounding of amounts
The amounts in the financial report and board of management's report have been rounded off to the
nearest $1,000.
(c) Income tax
No provision for income tax has been raised as the Association is exempt from income tax by the
Commissioner of Taxation under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.
(d) Inventories
Inventories acquired for catering and general merchandise are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.
For inventory acquired at no or nominal consideration, cost is the current replacement cost at the date of
acquisition.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(e) Property, plant and equipment
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
Plant and equipment is measured on the cost basis.
Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all property, plant and equipment is depreciated over their estimated useful
lives commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Land and the land component of any class
of property, plant and equipment is not depreciated.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated useful lives of the improvements.
Class of fixed asset
Plant and equipment at cost
Leasehold Improvements - Structural
Improvements
Leasehold Improvements - Other

Depreciation rates
10-40%
2%

Depreciation basis
Straight line
Straight line

10-20%

Straight line

(f) Leases
Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic
substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.
Finance leases
Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset,
but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the Association are classified as finance leases. Finance
leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability equal to the fair value or, if lower, the present value
of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. The interest expense is
calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and is included in finance costs in the statement of
comprehensive income. Leased assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful
lives where it is likely that the Association will obtain ownership of the asset, or over the term of the lease.
Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for
the period.
Operating leases
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor,
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease incentives received under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the life of the lease term.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(g) Financial instruments
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Association becomes a party to the
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the
Association commits itself to either purchase or sell the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs except where the instrument
is classified 'at fair value through profit or loss in which case transaction costs are expensed to the profit or
loss immediately.
Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual right to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is
transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the
risks and benefits associated with the asset.
Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are either discharged or expire. The
difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party
and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
Classification
The Association classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial
assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.
Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments consist of investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.
Non-derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs (if any), except for instruments recorded at fair value through profit or loss. After initial
recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are measured as described below.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Investments in listed securities are carried at fair value through profit or loss. They are measured at their
fair value at each reporting date and any increment or decrement in fair value from the prior period is
recognised in the profit or loss of the current period. Fair value of listed investments is based on closing bid
prices at the reporting date.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)
Non-listed investments, for which the fair value cannot be reliably measured, are carried at cost and tested
for impairment.
Held-to-maturity investments
Fixed term investments intended to be held to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. They
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are measured at fair value at inception and subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.
Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale financial assets include any financial assets not included in the above categories and are
measured at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to
equity. The cumulative gain or loss is held in equity until the financial asset is de-recognised, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss held in equity is recognised in profit and loss.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities include trade payables, other creditors and loans from third parties including
inter-company balances and loans from or other amounts due to Board of Management - related entities.
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal
payments and amortisation.
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.
The carrying amount of financial assets is reviewed annually by management to assess whether there is any
objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.
Where such objective evidence exists, the Association recognises impairment losses.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(h) Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill, intangible assets not yet ready for use and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are therefore tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
An impairment loss is recognised where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset is defined as the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in
use.
The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows which will be received from
the assets employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to
present values in determining recoverable amounts.
For an asset measured at cost, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss where the carrying amount
of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
Reversal of impairment loss for an asset measured at cost other than goodwill is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
(i) Interests in joint arrangements
Joint operations
The Association's share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations are included in
the respective items of the statements of financial performance and position. Details of the Association's
interests are shown in Note 12.
Joint ventures
The Association's interest in joint venture entities are brought to account using the equity method after
initially being recognised at cost. Under the equity method, the profits or losses of the joint venture entity is
recognised in profit or loss and the share of other comprehensive income items is recognised in other
comprehensive income. Details relating to the joint venture entity are set out in Note 11 and 12.
(j) Employee benefits
(i) Short-term employee benefit obligations
Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee benefits expected
to be settled within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on
remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. The expected cost of
short-term employee benefits in the form of compensated absences such as annual leave is recognised in
the provision for employee benefits. All other short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as
payables.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(j) Employee benefits (Continued)
(ii) Long-term employee benefit obligations
Liabilities arising in respect of long service leave and annual leave which is not expected to be settled within
twelve months of the reporting date are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash
outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.
Employee benefit obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date,
regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.
(k) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks, short-term deposits with an original maturity
of three months or less held at call with financial institutions, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.
(l) Revenue
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have passed to the buyer and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably. Risks and rewards of ownership are considered passed to the buyer at the time of
delivery of the goods to the customer.
Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customers.
Membership fees are recognised as revenue when no significant uncertainty as to its collectibility exists, if
the fee relates only to membership and all other services or products are paid for separately, or if there is a
separate annual subscription. Membership fees are recognised on a basis that reflects the timing, nature
and value of the benefit provided if the fee entitles the member to services or publications to be provided
during the membership period, or to purchase goods or services at prices lower than those charged to
non-members.
Revenue from organising and hosting events is recognised in the period in which the events are held.
Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established. Dividends
received from associates and joint venture entities are accounted for in accordance with the equity method
of accounting.
Interest revenue is recognised when it becomes receivable on a proportional basis taking in to account the
interest rates applicable to the financial assets.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Contributions - Government Grants and Donations
A non-reciprocal contribution or grant is recognised when the Association obtains control of the
contribution or grant and it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Association, and the
amount of the contribution or grant can be measured reliably.
If conditions attached to the contribution or grant that must be satisfied before the Association is eligible to
receive the contribution, recognition of contribution or income is deferred until those conditions are met.
A non-reciprocal donation is recognised when the right to receive a donation has been established.
When the Association receives grants but is obliged to give directly approximately equal value to the
contributor, recognition of grant income will be deferred until the delivery of service.
(n) Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and purchased assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables
in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.
(o) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs including interest expense calculated using the effective interest method, finance charges
in respect of finance leases, and exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the
extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.
(p) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Association has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be
reliably measured.
(q) Going concern
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(r) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with
current year disclosures.
(s) Intangibles
Intangible assets are initially recognised at fair value. After initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Intangible acquired by way of a government grant are initially recognised at fair value in accordance with
AASB 1004. Such intangibles are amortised over their estimated useful lives and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
(t) Adoption of new and amended accounting standards that are first operative
The Association has adopted AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, AASB12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities,
and AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement for the financial year beginning on 1 July 2014.
The adoption of these standards did not have any impact on the financial report other than additional
disclosures.
NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT OPERATIVE AT 30 JUNE 2015
The following standards and interpretations have been issued at the reporting date but are not yet
effective.
AASB 9 Financial Instruments
Significant revisions to the classification and measurement of financial assets, reducing the number of
categories and simplifying the measurement choices, including the removal of impairment testing of assets
measured at fair value. The amortised cost model is available for debt assets meeting both business model
and cash flow characteristics tests. All investments in equity instruments using AASB 9 are to be measured
at fair value.
AASB 9 amends measurement rules for financial liabilities that the Association elects to measure at fair
value through profit and loss. Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the entity’s own credit risk are
presented in other comprehensive income.
Chapter 6 Hedge Accounting supersedes the general hedge accounting requirements in AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, which many consider to be too rules-based and arbitrary.
Chapter 6 requirements include a new approach to hedge accounting that is intended to more closely align
hedge accounting with risk management activities undertaken by entities when hedging financial and
non-financial risks.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT OPERATIVE AT 30 JUNE 2015
(CONTINUED)
Some of the key changes from AASB 139 are as follows:


to allow hedge accounting of risk components of non-financial items that are identifiable and
measurable (many of which were prohibited from being designated as hedged items under AASB
139);



changes in the accounting for the time value of options, the forward element of a forward contract
and foreign-currency basis spreads designated as hedging instruments; and



modification of the requirements for effectiveness testing (including removal of the ‘brightline’
effectiveness test that offset for hedging must be in the range 80-125%).

Revised disclosures about an entity’s hedge accounting have also been added to AASB 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures.
Impairment of assets is now based on expected losses in AASB 9 which requires entities to measure:


the 12-month expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from those default events on
the financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date); or



full lifetime expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the life of the financial instrument.

The effective date is annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
AASB 15 introduces a five step process for revenue recognition with the core principle being for entities to
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in amounts that reflect the
consideration (that is, payment) to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. The five step approach is as follows:


Step 1: Identify the contracts with the customer;



Step 2: Identify the separate performance obligations;



Step 3: Determine the transaction price;



Step 4: Allocate the transaction price; and



Step 5: Recognise revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied.

AASB 15 will also result in enhanced disclosures about revenue, provide guidance for transactions that were
not previously addressed comprehensively (for example, service revenue and contract modifications) and
improve guidance for multiple-element arrangements.
The effective date is annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.
The changes in revenue recognition requirements in AASB 15 may cause changes to the timing and amount
of revenue recorded in the financial statements as well as additional disclosures. The impact of AASB 15 has
not yet been quantified.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Certain accounting estimates include assumptions concerning the future, which, by definition, will seldom
represent actual results. Estimates and assumptions based on future events have a significant inherent risk,
and where future events are not as anticipated there could be a material impact on the carrying amounts of
the assets and liabilities discussed below:
(a)Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
All assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting date by evaluating whether indicators of
impairment exist in relation to the continued use of the asset by the entity. Impairment triggers include
declining product or manufacturing performance, technology changes, adverse changes in the economic or
political environment or future product expectations. If an indicator of impairment exists the recoverable
amount of the asset is determined. No indicators of impairment were noted.
(b)Fair value measurements
Certain financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. Fair values have been determined in
accordance with fair value measurement hierarchy. Refer to Note 26.
Note

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

NOTE 4: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Revenue - main operations
- Cricket revenue
- Members subscriptions
- Catering-related revenue
- Ground revenue
Other revenue
- Interest
- Dividends
- Other
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17,622
10,199
6,597
3,530
37,948

14,151
10,988
13,268
3,575
41,982

350
747
940
2,037

397
293
1,243
1,933

39,985

43,915

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

NOTE 5: OPERATING PROFIT
a) Current year surplus has been determined after:
Employee benefits:
- Short term benefits
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Remuneration of auditors for:
- Audit of the financial report
- Other non-audit services

NOTE 6: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
Compensation received by key management personnel of the Association
- short-term employee benefits
- termination benefits

NOTE 7: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand
Cash at bank

- 19 -

12,043
12,043

11,329
11,329

-

1,493
1,493

36
29
65

23
14
37

1,678
1,678

1,774
54
1,828

1,677

1,335

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

NOTE 8: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade debtors
Accumulated impairment loss

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

1,176
(27)
1,149

604
(25)
579

664
664

2,737
452
3,189

1,813

3,768

Other receivables
Amounts receivable from related party (Note 23)
Other debtors

Impairment of trade receivables
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing with generally 30 day terms. An impairment loss is recognised
when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. The impairment losses have
been included within other expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. All trade receivables that
are not impaired are expected to be received within trading terms.
Movements in the accumulated impairment losses were:
2015
$'000
Opening balance at 1 July
Charge for the year
Amounts written off
Closing balance at 30 June

2014
$'000
25
2
27

2
23
25

Aged analysis
Trade receivables ageing analysis at 30 June is:
Gross
2015
$'000
Not past due
Past due 31-60 days
Past due 61-90 days
Past due more than 91 days

880
82
78
136
1,176
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Impairment
2015
$'000
27
27

Impairment
2014
$'000

Gross
2014
$'000
398
10
152
44
604

25
25

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

NOTE 9: INVENTORIES
At cost
Merchandise

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

163

-

10,009

7,753

9,650
19,659

4,650
12,403

-

-

NOTE 10: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Shares in listed corporations and trusts
All financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are held for trading.
Held to maturity financial assets
Other investments

NOTE 11: INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE
Net interest in the Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd
The interest in Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd is carried at $1.

The Association is entitled to a share of distributions from SMA based on its Net Profit or Loss in accordance
with the provisions of the Promoters agreement between the Association, SMA and SANFL.
The investment in the Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd (SMA) has been fully impaired as it is not reasonably certain to
generate and retain a surplus to which the Association has an unconditional right, and is to be operated as a
service entity for the management of the Adelaide Oval for the benefit of the Association and its Joint
Venture partner the South Australian National Football League (SANFL).
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 12: INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT ARRANGEMENTS
(a) Summarised financial information for the association's interest in SMA
2015
$'000
17,521
14,840
(20,699)
(8,133)
3,529

2014
$'000
14,306
14,480
(19,209)
(7,876)
1,701

62,479
(67,960)
(5,481)

29,970
(42,442)
(12,472)

6,743
(6,347)
6,913
1,828

16,429
(2,454)
1,691
3,194

Opening net assets
Add: Total comprehensive income
Closing net assets

1,701
1,828
3,529

(1,493)
3,194
1,701

Association's % share of net assets

50.0%

50.0%

1,764
(1,764)
-

850
(850)
-

Total current assets
Total non-current assets
Total current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Net assets
Trading Revenue
Trading Expenses
Trading Deficit
State Government grants and contributions
Less: Government asset write down
Service Fees from JV partners
Total comprehensive income

Association's share of net assets
Impairment/(Reversal of impairment)
Carrying amount of investment

The above Joint Venture financial information is unaudited. The Joint Venture related party transactions are
disclosed at Note 23.
The Association provides financial support to the SMA in the event of 'financial difficulties' - refer Note 22.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

NOTE 13: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Licences at cost
Accumulated amortisation
Total intangible assets

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

59,100
(1,014)
58,086

59,100
(253)
58,847

58,847
(761)
58,086

59,100
(253)
58,847

(a) Reconciliations
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning
and end of the current financial year
Licences at cost
Opening balance
Amortisation expense
Closing balance
(b) Intangible assets acquired by government grants
The Association was granted a licence agreement on the 17 November 2011 for 80 years by the
Government of South Australia for priority use of Adelaide Oval for cricket purposes during the period 8
October – 14 March annually.
The intangible assets were valued by an independent valuation dated 8 August 2012. The net fair value of
intangible assets at that date has been valued principally using the discount cash flow methodology
considering the earnings associated with the core use of the Adelaide Oval (redeveloped) and the various
other spaces of real estate allocated to the Association.
Given that the license granted is in relation to new and improved patron facilities and accommodation, the
key assumptions used in the valuation when the asset was initially recognised are as follows:
• Retention of international and domestic cricket matches;
• Growth to attendances at some international cricket matches
• Revenue derived from the introduction of a new venue membership product enabling
patron access to cricket and football fixtures;
• Enhanced quantity and quality of corporate facilities;
• Improved indoor cricket training facilities;
• Office accommodation and function spaces at no cost;
• The cash flow forecast used in the valuation relates to the period 2014 - 2034; and
• The value has been based on the incremental value of cash flows.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

NOTE 14: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold improvements
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

1,152
(185)
967

914
(148)
766

Sculpture
Total leasehold improvements

210
1,177

190
956

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Accumulated depreciation
Total Plant and equipment

1,498
(715)
783

1,228
(623)
605

Total property, plant and equipment

1,960

1,561

Leasehold improvements
Opening carrying amount
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation expense
Closing carrying amount

956
258
(37)
1,177

1,223
299
(504)
(62)
956

Plant and equipment
Opening carrying amount
Additions
Disposals & transfers
Depreciation expense
Impairment
Closing carrying amount

605
270
(92)
783

1,801
347
(1,061)
(311)
(171)
605

(a) Reconciliations
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at
the beginning and end of the current financial year

The impairment losses recognised during 2014 represented write-downs of certain assets to its recoverable
amount as a result of obsolescence and write - down to expected proceeds on planned disposal.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

NOTE 15: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Unsecured liabilities
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

166
3,772
3,938

186
2,759
2,945

NOTE 16: PROVISIONS
CURRENT
Annual leave
Long service leave

(a)
(a)

469
308
777

445
287
732

NON CURRENT
Long service leave

(a)

191

125

Provision for long-term employee benefits - A provision has been recognised for employee benefits relating
to long service leave for employees. In calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of long
service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is based upon historical data. The
measurement and recognition criteria for employee benefits have been included in Note 1(j).
(a) Aggregate employee benefits liability
(b) Number of employees at year end

968
73
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

NOTE 17: BOARD DESIGNATED FUTURE FUND RESERVE
Board designated future fund reserve

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

15,319

8,663

The Board of Management approved the transfer of surplus to set up the above reserve.
The general purpose of the fund is to help ensure the long-term financial stability of the organisation and
position it to respond to varying economic conditions and changes affecting the organisation's financial
position and the ability of the organisation to continuously carry out its mission.
The use and management of the funds is governed by a policy statement approved by the Board of
Management.

NOTE 18: BOARD DESIGNATED FACILITY IMPROVEMENT FUND RESERVE
Board designated facility improvement fund reserve

3,740

3,740

The Board of Management approved the transfer of surplus to set up the above reserve.
The general purpose of the fund is to help ensure the long-term financial sustainability of the organisation's
strategic investment into promoting and developing cricket in South Australia.
The use and management of the fund is governed by a policy statement approved by the Board of
Management.

NOTE 19: ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
Accumulated surplus at beginning of year
Surplus of current year
Transfers to reserves
Accumulated surplus at end of the year

61,684
4,346
(6,656)
59,374
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61,697
3,162
(3,175)
61,684

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

NOTE 20: CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with current year surplus
Current year surplus

4,346

3,162

Adjustments and non-cash items
Depreciation
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net (gain) on financial instruments

129
761
(760)

372
171
253
1,493
-

Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase) / decrease in receivables
(Increase) / decrease in inventories
Increase / (decrease) in payables and borrowings
Increase / (decrease) in provisions
Increase / (decrease) in GST

1,955
(163)
860
111
127

1,115
108
(4,206)
40
(80)

Cash flows from operating activities

7,366

2,428

- 27 -

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

NOTE 21: CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS
(a) Operating lease commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the
financial statements:
Payable
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
- later than five years

88
61
149

94
10
104

South Australian Cricket Association Inc. had the following significant operating leases during the year
ended 30 June 2015. They are:
• The lease of an office/warehouse situated at Unit 3, 22 Ware Street, Thebarton SA 5031 which had
a lease term ending on 7 May 2017;
• The lease of the Women’s' Memorial Playing Field comprising the whole of the land comprised
and described in Certificate of title Volume 5247 Folio 595, being a 21 years lease expiring on 30 June 2029
having a repayment of $1.00 p.a. payable on demand; and
• The Sporting Licence of Park 25 comprising the whole of the land referred to as "Park 25" in the
Adelaide Parklands, Port Road, Adelaide, is a 5 year Licence expiring on 31 August 2017 providing for
minimum annual lease payments of $3,955 commencing in the 2012/13 financial year.
(b) Capital commitments
The Association did not have any capital commitments as at 30 June 2015 (30 June 2014: Nil), or any interest
in capital commitments through its interest in the SMA.
(c) Finance leasing commitments
Payable
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
Minimum lease payments
Represented by:
Current liability
Non-current liability
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7
22
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6
16
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5
24
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

NOTE 21: CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
Consisting of
- Capital (Current)
- Capital (Non-current)
- Interest

4
15
3
22

3
22
4
29

NOTE 22: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(i) The Promoters Agreement between the Association, SMA and SANFL provides a vehicle for financial
support from the Association and SANFL to SMA in the event of 'financial difficulties'.
(ii) It is possible that recent variations and ongoing negotiations relating to commercially confidential
supplier agreements may result in the outflow of economic benefits to third parties between the 2015 and
2024 financial years in a form that has been agreed. The outflow is not considered material on an annual
basis, and no outflow occurred in the 2015 financial year.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

NOTE 23: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Transactions with Joint Venture
Total Revenue
Total Expenses

8,752
(8,789)

13,030
(14,655)

The following balances owing between SMA and the Association are included in the Association's Statement
of Financial Position:
Amounts due by SMA
Amounts due to SMA

774
(158)

2,869
(2,162)

(b) S.D.H. Parkinson - Sam Parkinson Marketing
Goods were provided by Sam Parkinson Marketing, a related entity of S.D.H. Parkinson, on commercial
terms and conditions.
Value of transactions
11

19

(c) R.W. Hill-Smith - Samuel Smith & Son Pty Ltd
Goods were provided to Adelaide Oval Stadium Management Authority by Samuel Smith & Son Pty Ltd, a
related entity of R.W. Hill Smith, on commercial terms and conditions.
171
83
Value of transactions
(d) R. Phillips - Honorarium
An Honorarium was received from the Association in connection with services rendered as grade cricket
talent spotter on commercial terms and conditions.
3
Value of transactions

- 30 -

3

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 24: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Association is exposed to a variety of financial risks comprising:
(a) Market price risk
(b) Interest rate risk
(c) Credit risk
(d) Liquidity risk
(e) Fair values
The members of the Board of Management have overall responsibility for identifying and managing
operational and financial risks.
The Association holds the following financial instruments:
2015
$'000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Leases
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2014
$'000

1,677
1,813
19,659
23,149

1,335
3,768
12,403
17,506

3,938
19
3,957

2,945
25
2,970

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 24: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk).
The Association does not have a material exposure to market price risk.

Sensitivity
Investments in listed securities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value at reporting
date based on current bid prices. If security prices were to increase/decrease by 10% from fair values as at
the reporting date, assuming all other variables that might impact on fair value remain constant, then the
impact on profit for the year and equity is as follows:
Listed securities

2015
$'000
1,001
1,001

+/- 10% price variation
Impact on surplus

2014
$'000
775
775

(b) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as
a result of changes in market interest rates.
The Association's exposure to interest rate risk in relation to future cash flows and the effective weighted
average interest rates on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities is limited to its cash and cash
equivalents (Note 7) and Held to Maturity financial assets (Note 10), which attracted interest at a weighted
average rate of 2.55% (2014: 2.2%).
The Association does not have a material exposure to currency risk.
(c) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation. Credit risk is managed and reviewed regularly by management. It arises
from exposures to customers and through deposits with financial institutions.
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date
of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for impairment of
those assets, as disclosed in statement of financial position and notes to financial statements.
The Association does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors
under financial instruments entered into by the Association.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 24: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
The Association minimises concentrations of credit risk in relation to trade receivables by undertaking
transactions with a large number of customers.
(i) Cash deposits
Credit risk for cash deposits is managed by holding all cash deposits with major Australian financial
institutions having a credit rating of not less than BBB+ or being an Approved Deposit Taking Institution
(ADI)
(ii) Trade receivables
Credit risk for trade receivables is managed by setting credit limits and completing credit checks for new
customers. Outstanding receivables are regularly monitored for payment in accordance with credit terms.
The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables is provided in Note 8. As the Association undertakes
transactions with a large number of customers and regularly monitors payment in accordance with credit
terms, the financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired, are expected to be received in
accordance with the credit risk.

(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.
The Association manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that cash outflows
are closely matched to forecast inflows.

(e) Fair values
The net fair values of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market bid price at balance date
adjusted for transaction costs expected to be incurred. For other assets and liabilities the net fair value
approximates their carrying value. No financial assets are readily traded on organised markets in
standardised form other than listed investments. Financial assets where the carrying amount exceeds net
fair values have not been written down as the Association intends to hold these assets to maturity.
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying amounts as disclosed in
statement of financial position and notes to financial statements.
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ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

NOTE 25: CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Board of Management controls the capital of the Association in order to maintain a good debt-to-equity
ratio and to ensure that the Association can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.
The Association's debt and capital includes financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.
The Board of Management effectively manage the Association's capital by assessing the Association's
financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks. These responses
include the effective management of debt levels and the restructure of their debt liability, if any.
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by the Board of Management to control the capital of
the Association since the prior year. This strategy is to ensure that there is sufficient cash to meet trade and
sundry payables and borrowings, as and when they fall due.
The gearing ratios for the years ended 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2015 are calculated below:
Trade and other payables
3,938
Borrowings
19
Less cash and cash equivalents
(1,677)
Net debt
2,280

2,945
25
(1,335)
1,635

Total Members Funds
Total Debt plus Members Funds
Gearing Ratio (Net Debt/Net Debt + Total Members Funds)

74,087
75,722
2.16%
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78,433
80,713
2.82%

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
NOTE 26: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(a) Fair Value Hierarchy
Assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value have been determined by the following fair
value measurement hierarchy:
Level 1:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2:

Input other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly

Level 3:

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
Level 1
$'000

2015

Level 2
$'000

Level 3
$'000

Total
$'000

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Shares in listed corporations

10,009

-

-

10,009

Total financial assets

10,009

-

-

10,009

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Shares in listed corporations

7,753

-

-

7,753

Total financial assets

7,753

-

-

7,753

2014
Recurring fair value measurements

NOTE 27: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
There has been no matter or circumstance which has arisen since 30 June 2015 that has significantly
affected or may significantly affect:
(a)
(b)
(c)

the operations, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2015, of the Association, or
the results of those operations, or
the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2015, of the Association.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
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STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
In the opinion of the Board of Management the financial report as set out on pages 4 - 35:
1.

Presents fairly the financial position of South Australian Cricket Association Inc as at 30 June 2015 and
performance for the year ended on that date in accordance with the Accounting Standards in Australia
and other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia and other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards.

2.

At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that South Australian Cricket
Association Inc will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Management and is signed for and
on behalf of the Board of Management by:

Board Member:
Board Member:
Dr K. R. Griffiths

Board Member:
Board Member:
D. L. Marsh

Dated this

day of

2015
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
We have audited the accompanying financial report of the South Australian Cricket Association
Inc., which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information, and the statement by members of the Board of Management.
Board of Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Report
The Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Associations
Incorporations Act (SA) 1985 and for such internal control as the Board of Management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require
that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free
from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the association’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the association’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by those charged with governance, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
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Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the South Australian Cricket Association Inc. as at 30 June 2015, and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards and the Associations Incorporations Act (SA) 1985.

A P FAULKNER

PITCHER PARTNERS

Principal

Adelaide

Date: 11 August 2015
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
REPORT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

In accordance with Section 35(5) of the Associations Incorporations Act (SA) 1985, the Board of
Management of South Australian Cricket Association Inc hereby states that during the financial
year:

a. (i) no officer of the Association
(ii) no firm of which an officer is a member; and
(iii) no body corporate in which an officer has a substantial financial interest,

Has received or become entitled to receive a benefit as a result of a contract between
the officer, firm or body corporate and the Association, except for the following:
2015
$’000

2014
$’000

(a) S.D.H. Parkinson - Sam Parkinson Marketing
Goods were provided by Sam Parkinson Marketing, a
related entity of S.D.H. Parkinson, on commercial terms
and conditions.

11

19

(b) R.W. Hill-Smith - Samuel Smith & Son Pty Ltd
Goods were provided to Adelaide Oval Stadium
Management Authority by Samuel Smith & Son Pty Ltd,
a related entity of R.W. Hill Smith, on commercial terms
and conditions.

171

83

3

3

(c) R. Phillips - Honorarium
An Honorarium was received from the Association in
connection with services rendered as a grade cricket
talent spotter on commercial terms and conditions.

b. no officer of the Association has received directly or indirectly from the Association any
payment or other benefit of pecuniary value.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
REPORT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Management and is
signed for and on behalf of the Board of Management by:

Board Member:
Board Member:
Dr K. R. Griffiths

Board Member:
Board Member:
D. L. Marsh

Dated this

day of

2015
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Top: Craig Simmons and Tim Ludeman walk on to Adelaide Oval
for the Adelaide Strikers during BBL|04.
Above: The Breezair SA Scorpions celebrate a wicket during the
WNCL Final against NSW.

THE BEER BEHIND CRICKET
IN SOUTH AUSTRALIA.
it pays to be a local

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN
CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC.

South Australian Cricket Association Adelaide Oval North Adelaide 5006 South Australia
Telephone 08 8300 3800 Facsimile 08 8231 4346 www.saca.com.au

